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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG 
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which 
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision 
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that 
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents 
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this 
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of On Real International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose 
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm 
that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete 
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which 
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of On Real International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), I am pleased to present to our shareholders the audited annual report of the Group 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (hereafter referred as the “Financial Year”).

OVERVIEW

During the financial year, the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) and the trade war between People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”) and United States (“US”) (the “trade war”) caused worldwide economic downturn and brought 
certain operating pressure to the Group. These events had a certain impact on the Group‘s production and profitability 
since early 2020. Our purchase order from our customers decreased due to the decrease in the demand of the products 
under worse economic environment. It led to the decrease in revenue by approximately 25.1% from approximately 
HK$334.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$250.6 million for the year ended 31 March 
2021.

In order to mitigating the impact of the trade war, the Group put much effort to diversify our manufacturing service 
from PRC to Vietnam and Malaysia through subcontracting to reduce the impact of the additional tariff. We also hired 
consultancy service assisting us to manage the overseas manufacturing to optimize business management processes.

However, the gross margin of the products have been affected due to the increase of manufacturing, logistics and 
related service costs, especially due to the frequent knockdown of the transportation and travelling starting from 2020. 
To mitigate the effect of the impact, Company will spend much effort in securing business opportunity that will be less 
affected by the trade war and could be continuing to be manufactured in PRC instead of overseas.

The Directors keep continuously evaluating the current business strategies of the Group with an aim to streamline its 
business and improve its overall performance. The Group keep continuously focusing on research and development of 
products to strengthen its products portfolio, enhancing the information and management system and enhancing its 
marketing efforts. The Group is proceeding cost migration of our fixed overhead in manufacturing into a variable costs in 
order to increase the flexibility of operating the business.

PROSPECT

Our business objectives are to grow our existing business by strengthening our product portfolio, enhancing our 
information management system and enhancing our marketing efforts. We will continue to look for opportunities to 
diversify our revenue stream, search for new product and to leverage our developed sales channels and network for 
distributing related products.

In coming year, the Group will continue to spend effort in research and development on new product line and seek for 
new customers and sales channels. We will also continue to subcontract partial of our manufacturing and operation 
activities to reduce the fix overhead and to enhance the flexibility in terms of fixed cost commitment. We will continue to 
put effort in developing new model of our products and diversify our revenue streams which are expected to bring growth 
potential for turnover to the Group and returns to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). The Group 
will enhance our business revenue and profitability by introducing new product categories and/or leveraging our research 
and development capability to provide design engineering service to our customers. The Group will look for and consider 
potential investment business opportunities from time to time.
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The economic downturn caused by impact of COVID-19 and the effect of trade war have brought about additional 
uncertainties to the Group’s operating environment and may impact the Group’s operations and financial position. The 
Group will continue to keep track of development of the COVID-19 and trade war and to evaluate their impacts on the 
Group‘s financial position, cash flows and operating results. The Group holds a positive and optimistic attitude to react 
proactively to its possible impact on Group‘s performance.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to all Shareholders, investors and business partners for 
their continuous support to the Group. I would also like to express my appreciation to all fellow Directors, management 
and staff for their contributions to the Group.

Chan Lung Ming
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
24 June 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a two-way radio product designer and manufacturer established in 2001. We derive revenue principally 
from designing, manufacturing and selling two-way radios and baby monitor products on original design manufacturing 
basis.

The Group’s revenue decreased from approximately HK$334.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to 
approximately HK$250.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately 25.1%. 
Such decrease was mainly due to decrease of number of purchase orders from customers for two-way radios during the 
year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group’s revenue of two-way radios decreased by approximately 23.5% from approximately HK$245.0 million for 
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$187.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 mainly due to the 
decrease of number of purchase orders from customers.

The Group’s revenue of baby monitors decreased by approximately 14.2% from approximately HK$3.9 million for 
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$3.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 mainly due to the 
decrease in demand of our audio baby monitor products.

The Group’s revenue of servicing business increased by approximately 18.2 times from approximately HK$0.4 million 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$7.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 mainly due to the 
increase in provision of electronic manufacturing servicing business.

The Group’s revenue of other products decreased by approximately 38.9% from approximately HK$85.3 million for 
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$52.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 mainly due to the 
decrease in demand and decrease of number of purchase orders from our other products.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the revenue of the Group by product/service categories for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020:

For the year ended 31 March
2021 2020 Increase (Decrease)

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %       

Two-way radios 187,442 74.8 244,976 73.2 (57,534) (23.5)
Baby monitors 3,327 1.3 3,876 1.2 (549) (14.2)
Servicing business 7,713 3.1 402 0.1 7,311 1,818.7
Other products 52,117 20.8 85,332 25.5 (33,215) (38.9)      

Total 250,599 100 334,586 100 (83,987) (25.1)      
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised of raw material cost, direct labour costs and subcontracting fees. 
The cost of sales decreased by approximately 19.4% from approximately HK$303.7 million for the year ended 31 March 
2020 to approximately HK$244.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The gross profit margin decreased from 
approximately 9.2% for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately 2.3% for the year ended 31 March 2021, which 
was mainly due to the profit margin dropped for the products of two-way radios and other products and write-down of 
inventories of approximately HK$3.1 million during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to 
approximately HK$3.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, which was mainly due to decrease in logistics expenses 
and partially offset by the increase in certification cost and sample charges.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses decreased from approximately HK$38.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to 
approximately HK$33.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, which was mainly due to decrease in research and 
development fee and consulting fee.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

The Group recorded a loss of HK$34.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, compared to loss of HK$19.5 million 
for the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase in the loss was mainly due to the squeeze on gross margin of the two-
way radios and other products, the impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$2.6 million 
and write-down of inventories of approximately HK$3.1 million during the year.

Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$Nil).

Significant Investments held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for 
Material Investments or Capital Assets

There were neither significant investment held as at 31 March 2021 nor material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

There is no plan for material investment or capital assets as at 31 March 2021.
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Treasury policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit 
risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of the financial conditions of its clients and credit review of the Group’s loan 
portfolio. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity 
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding requirements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 150 staff (2020: 130). Total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) 
were approximately HK$16.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately HK$18.6 million). 
Remuneration is determined with reference to market conditions and the performance, qualifications and experience 
of individual employee. Year-end bonus will be paid to employees as recognition of and reward for their contributions 
according to individual performance. Other benefits include share option scheme, contributions to statutory mandatory 
provident fund schemes and social insurance together with housing provident funds to its employees in Hong Kong and 
the PRC respectively.

Liquidity and financial resources

Historically, the Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements primarily through operating cash flows and 
bank borrowings. As of 31 March 2021, we had various short term borrowings, bank borrowings and lease liabilities of 
approximately HK$16.2 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$53.4 million), including factoring loan for trade 
receivables representing a decrease of approximately HK$37.7 million as compared to that as at 31 March 2020.

Net current assets decreased from approximately HK$60.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately 
HK$25.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, which was mainly due to decrease in the bank balances for the 
usage of general working capital and repayment of bank borrowing during the year.

The Company requires cash primarily for working capital need. As of 31 March 2021, the Company had approximately 
HK$11.8 million in bank balances and cash (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$46.8 million), representing a 
decrease of approximately HK$35.0 million as compared to that as at 31 March 2020.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately 50.1% (as at 31 March 2020: approximately 
84.1%). The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings divided by the equity attributable to owners of the 
company at the end of the reporting period. The decrease of the gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the decrease in 
amount of borrowings for short-term loan to support the settlement to suppliers.

Contingent Liabilities

On 20 January 2020, the Company received a third-party notice with legal case no. HCA1643/2019 between the Barton 
Eagle Limited (the “Plaintiff”), Lam Tak Hung (the “Defendant”) and the Company. The Plaintiff claimed against the 
Defendant approximately HK$8 million under a guarantee for debts owned by the Company. The Defendant claims 
against the Company to be indemnified against the plaintiff’s claim and the cost of this action on the grounds that the 
Company are the principal debtor of the alleged debt. The management of the Company is seeking the legal opinion for 
the above case.
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Up to the date of this report, the outcome of the proceedings is still uncertain. As the Directors considered it is premature 
and not practical to draw a conclusion of the outcome of the claims and that the ultimate liability, if any, will not have a 
material adverse impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position, no provision was made as at 31 March 2021.

Apart from the contingent liabilities disclosed on the above, the Company has no significant contingent liabilities.

Pledged of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by:

(i)	 certain of the Group’s trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) with carrying amount of approximately 
HK$Nil (2020: HK$32,869,000);

(ii)	 pledged bank deposits with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,158,000 (2020: HK$1,085,000);

(iii)	 a corporate guarantee from the Company with an aggregate amount of approximately HK$65,000,000 (2020: 
HK$65,000,000).

Capital Commitments

The Company had no capital commitments on acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2021 (as at 
31 March 2020: approximately of HK$9,000).

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

Share Consolidation, Change in Board Lot Size, Authorised Share Capital Increase and Rights Issue

Details of the Share Consolidation, Authorised Share Capital Increase and Right Issue was set out in the Company’s 
announcements (the “Announcements”) dated 24 December 2019 and 4 February 2020 and the Company’s Circular 
(the “Circular”) dated on 15 January 2020 and the Company’s prospectus (the “Prospectus”). Unless otherwise 
defined, capitalised terms used herein shall bear the same meanings ascribed thereto in the announcements.

On 24 December 2019, the Board proposed to the Shareholders to effect the Share Consolidation which involves 
the consolidation of every ten (10) issued and unissued Existing Shares of par value HK$0.00125 each into one (1) 
Consolidated Share of par value of HK$0.0125. The Board also proposed to change the board lot size for trading on 
the Stock Exchange from 5,000 Existing Shares to 10,000 Consolidated Shares upon the Share Consolidation having 
become effective.

Also, the Company proposed to increase the Company’s authorised share capital (conditional on the Share Consolidation 
having become effective) from HK$7,800,000 divided into 624,000,000 Consolidated Shares to HK$39,000,000 divided 
into 3,120,000,000 Consolidated Shares by the creation of an additional 2,496,000,000 Consolidated Shares.

The Board proposed, subject to, amongst others, the Share Consolidation and the Authorised Share Capital Increase 
becoming effective, to implement the Rights Issue on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every two (2) Consolidated 
Shares held on the Record Date at the Subscription Price of HK$0.1 per Rights Share, to raise gross proceeds of 
approximately HK$19.95 million before expenses by way of the Rights Issue of 199,500,000 Rights Shares to the 
Qualifying Shareholders.
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The Company provisionally allot to the Qualifying Shareholders one Rights Share in nil-paid form for every two 
Consolidated Shares in issue and held on the Record Date. The Rights Issue will not be available to the Excluded 
Shareholders.

The net proceeds from the Rights Issue after deducting all necessary expenses were to be approximately HK$17.8 million 
which were intended to be applied in following manner: (i) as to approximately HK$14.1 million, being approximately 
79.2%, for expansion of existing business and/or acquisition of and/or investment in business(es) which leverage on the 
competitive advantage of the Group should suitable opportunities arise; and (ii) remaining net proceeds of approximately 
HK$3.7 million, being approximately 20.8%, for general working capital of the Group.

On 4 February 2020, all the resolutions of Share Consolidation and Authorised Share Capital Increase were duly passed 
by the Shareholders by way of poll at the EGM. As all the conditions of the Share Consolidation have been fulfilled, the 
Share Consolidation and Authorised Share Capital Increased has taken effect on 6 February 2020.

On 6 March 2020, all conditions set out in the underwriting agreement relating to the Rights Issue have been fulfilled and 
the Rights Issue became unconditional. The gross proceeds raised from the Rights Issue are approximately HK$19.95 
million before expenses.

Details of the Rights Issue and Underwriting Agreement were set out in the Announcements, Circular and Prospectus.

As at 31 March 2021, the net proceeds of the Subscription and Rights Issue had been utilised as follows:

Actual net 
proceeds 
allocated

Amount 
utilised up to 

31 March 2021
Balance as at 

31 March 2021

Expected 
timeline for 

fully utilising 
the unutilised 
amount (Note)

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million     

Share Consolidation, Change in Board Lot 
Size, Authorised Share Capital Increase 
and Rights Issue (completion on 11 
March 2020)

Expansion of existing business and/
or acquisition of and/or investment in 
business(es) which leverage 
on the competitive advantage of the Group 14.1 11.1 3.0

In or before 
31 March 2022

General working capital 3.7 3.7 — —    

Note:	 The expected timetable for fully utilising the unutilised net proceeds of the Right Issue is determined based on the Group’s 

best estimate of future market conditions, and is subject to change depending on current market conditions and future market 

developments.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Lung Ming (陳龍銘), aged 43, is appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of our Board on 27 

November 2019. Mr. Chan obtained a Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from 
City University of Hong Kong in 2014, a Master of Laws from Renmin University of China in 2007, a Master of Laws in 
International Economic Law from City University of Hong Kong in 2006, a Bachelor of Laws degree (Hons) from University 
of London in 2004 and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from The Open University of Hong Kong in 2000. 
Mr. Chan is a responsible officer under the Securities and Futures Commission possessing the type 6 (advising on 
corporate finance) licence. Mr. Chan has several years of experience in the areas of corporate finance, regulatory and 
compliance. Mr. Chan is currently a director of investment banking at a corporation licensed to engage in type 1 (dealing 
in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. Chan was an executive director and vice-chairman of EFT Solutions 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8062) from September 2017 to January 2019 and Mr. Chan re-designated as a non-
executive director of EFT Solutions Holdings Limited from February 2019 to July 2019. Mr. Chan was also an executive 
director of China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8132) from August 2013 to December 2016.

Mr. Yeung Shing Wai (楊成偉), aged 35, is appointed as our executive Director on 21 September 2019. Mr. Yeung had 

over ten years of working experience in power and data cord industry. He was an executive director of China Oil Gangran 
Energy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8132) from November 2010 to December 2014. Afterwards, he makes 
private investments in various industries. Mr. Yeung was re-appointed as an executive director of China Oil Gangran 
Energy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8132) on 16 February 2020.

Ms. Sin Pui Ying (冼佩瑩), aged 41, is appointed as our non-executive Director on 21 September 2019 and re-designated 

from non-executive Director to executive Director on 1 November 2019. Ms. Sin is a practising member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (Accounting 
and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong. Ms. Sin has over 19 years of experience in finance and accounting. Prior 
to joining the Company, she was responsible for accounting, internal audit, investment and corporate finance matters for 
several listed companies in Hong Kong. She was an executive director of each of (i) HongDa Financial Holding Limited 
(now known as China Wood International Holding Co., Limited) (stock code: 1822) from May 2020 to August 2020; (ii) 
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from November 2019 to September 2020; (iii) KNK Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 8039) from August 2019 to January 2021 and (iv) hmvod Limited (stock code: 8103) from April 2020 
to February 2021. As at the date hereof, she is currently an executive director of each of (i) Courage Investment Group 
Limited (stock code: 1145) since September 2020 and (ii) Power Financial Group Limited (stock code: 397) since April 
2021.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Tao Hong Ming (陶康明), aged 53, is appointed as our non-executive Director on 25 October 2019. Mr. Tao obtained 

a bachelor of engineering degree in electronic engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong 
Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1990. He has over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing, business 
development, and product development in the telecommunication product industry. Mr. Tao previously joined the 
Company between December 2014 to September 2017 as an executive Director and chief operating officer.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Shiu Man (陳劭民), aged 54, is appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 31 August 2016. He is 
also as the chairman of our remuneration committee, a member of our audit committee and a member of our nomination 
committee. Mr. Chan is a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. He holds a master degree in finance from University 
of Hawaii of US. Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience in financial control and corporate restructuring. He has 
worked for various companies in the US, including a NASDAQ listed company to establish financial operation in Japan, 
Europe, and the PRC. Mr. Chan also has experience in consulting on corporate finance, project financing and accounting 
issues to companies in US, Europe and the PRC. From October 2011 to April 2019, Mr. Chan was an independent non-
executive director of Zhongda International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0909), whose shares delisted on the main 
board of the Stock Exchange on 8 March 2019. Mr. Chan was a non-executive Director of China Oil Gangran Energy 
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8132) from July 2017 to August 2018.

Mr. Wong Ching Wan (王青雲), aged 55, is appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 31 March 2016. 
He is also as the chairman of our audit committee, a member of our remuneration committee and a member of our 
nomination committee. He is a member of the CPA Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 
Chartered Professional Accountant of Canada and a fellow member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He has 
obtained a Bachelor of Business and Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1989 and a Bachelor 
of Commerce from The University of Southern Queensland in 1992. Also, he has studied in the Professional Master of 
Business Administration course offered by the Troy State University, the US. Mr. Wong is the chief financial officer of 
Intelligent Living Application Group Inc. from 1 June 2020 and was the compliance officer of China Finance Investment 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 0875) from 1 November 2018 to 31 May 2020. He is an independent non-executive 
director of Top Standard Corporation (stock code: 8510) and was an independent non-executive director of Huge China 
Holdings Limited (now known as Cocoon Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0428), which shares are listed on main board of 
the Stock Exchange from May 2015 to June 2018. He served as the company secretary and authorised representative of 
China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8132) from 15 December 2015 to 31 October 2016 and 
from 15 December 2015 to 23 January 2017 respectively, which shares are listed on GEM board of the Stock Exchange. 
He was also a director of Network CN, Inc. (stock code: NWCN) from 28 August 2015 to 1 July 2017, which shares are 
duly traded in the US. Mr. Wong has more than 25 years of experience in audit, internal control, financial control and 
capital market. He has held various positions in different companies in the PRC, the USA and Hong Kong including senior 
position in multinational companies.
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Mr. Cheng Chai Fu (鄭濟富), aged 59, is appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 25 October 2019. 

He is also as the chairman of our nomination committee, a member of our audit committee and a member of our 
remuneration committee. Mr. Cheng graduated from Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand with a bachelor 
degree in commerce and administration in 1990 and obtained a Master of Business Administration from Murray State 
University, Kentucky of the United States of America in 2000. Mr. Cheng has been an associate member of The Hong 
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of New Zealand. Mr. Cheng has extensive experience in the areas of auditing, accounting and company 
secretarial work. Mr. Cheng worked as the company secretary and financial controller of Bingo Group Holdings Limited 
(stock Code: 8220) from August 2008 to October 2009. Mr. Cheng worked as the company secretary of Hanergy 
Thin Film Power Group Limited (stock Code: 566) from March 2010 to January 2015. He also worked as an in-house 
company secretary of HongDa Financial Holding Limited (stock Code: 1822) from January 2015 to December 2015 and 
the company secretary of China Regenerative Medicine International Limited (stock Code: 8158) from January 2016 
to January 2019 respectively. He served as an independent non-executive director of Legend Strategy International 
Holdings Group Company Limited (stock Code: 1355) from March 2017 to September 2018. He also served as a non-
executive Director of HongDa Financial Holding Limited (now known as China Wood International Holding Co., Limited) 
(stock code: 1822) from April 2020 to August 2020.

*	 The English translation of the Chinese name is for information only, and should not be regarded as the official English translation 

of such name. Please refer to the Chinese version of this annual report for the Chinese name.
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The Company is committed to ensure a high standard of corporate governance in the interests of the shareholders and 
devote considerable effort to maintain high level of business ethics and corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the 
year. The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions of the CG Code 
during the year ended 31 March 2021, except for certain deviations as specified with considered reasons for such 
deviations as explained below. The Board of the Company will keep reviewing and updating such practices from time to 
time to ensure compliance with legal and commercial standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of the Group. 
At the same time, it also has the duty to enhance the effectiveness of the corporate governance practices of the Group. 
Under the Board, there are 3 board committees, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All 
these committees perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference (available on the 
Company’s website) and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of the senior management.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group had adopted Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct 
regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings.

Having made specific enquiry with all the Directors, all the Directors of the Company had confirmed compliance with the 
required standard of dealings set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct for Directors’ securities transactions 
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At present, the Board comprises seven directors (“Directors”) as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Lung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Yeung Shing Wai
Ms. Sin Pui Ying

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Tao Hong Ming



15Annual Report 2020/21  On Real International Holdings Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Shiu Man
Mr. Wong Ching Wan
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 11 to 13. 
There are no family or other material relationships among members of the Board.

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. They are collectively responsible for 
promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is accountable to the 
shareholders for the strategic development of the Group with the goal of maximising long-term shareholder value, while 
balancing broader stakeholder interests.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board is expected to meet regularly and Board meeting should be 
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings, Remuneration Committee 
meeting, Nomination Committee meeting and general meeting during the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the 
following table:

Board 
meeting

Audit 
Committee 

meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

meeting
General 
Meeting      

Number of meetings held  
during the year 8 4 1 1 1

Name of Directors Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend  

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Lung Ming 7/8 — — — 1/1
Mr. Yeung Shing Wai 8/8 — — — 1/1
Ms. Sin Pui Ying 7/8 — — — 1/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tao Hong Ming 7/8 — — — 1/1

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Mr. Chan Shiu Man 8/8 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wong Ching Wan 8/8 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu 8/8 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
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Code Provision A.1.3 of the CG Code stipulates that at least 14 days’ notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. 
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given. Board papers together with all 
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or audit 
committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and 
to enable them to make informed decisions. All Directors are provided with details of agenda items for decisions making 
with reasonable notice and welcome to include matters in the agenda of each Board meeting. Directors have access 
to the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) who is responsible for 
ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and advising the Board on compliance matters.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are opened 
for inspection as request by Directors. During the year, the Board was given sufficient time to review and approve the 
minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees. Directors are also provided with access to independent 
professional advice, where necessary, in carrying out their obligations as Directors of the Company, at the expense of the 
Company.

If potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder or a Director arises which the Board has determined to 
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution. Directors who are 
considered to have conflict of interests or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed would 
not be counted in the quorum of meeting and would abstain from voting. The Directors attend meetings in persons 
or through other means of electronic communication in accordance with the Articles of Association (the “Articles of 
Association”) of the Company.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the Executive Directors and 
the senior management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval 
has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the Executive Directors and senior 
management.

All Directors assume the responsibilities owed to the shareholders of the Company for the well-being and success of the 
Company. They are aware of their duties to act in good faith and in the best interests of the Company.

The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records so as to enable the Directors to monitor the 
Company’s overall financial position. The Board updates shareholders on the operations and financial position 
of the Group through quarterly, half yearly and annual results announcements as well as the publication of timely 
announcements of other matters as prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations.

The Company has three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED”), at least one of whom has appropriate financial 
management expertise, in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Each of the INED has made an annual confirmation 
of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INED meet 
the Independence Guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the 
terms of the guidelines.

According to the Articles of Association, newly appointed Directors shall hold office until the next following general 
meeting and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, 
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated 
and should not be performed by the same individual.

The position of chief executive officer of the Company was vacant since 27 November 2019. The Executive Directors 
of the Company oversaw the day-to-day management of the business and operations of the Group until the suitable 
candidate to fill the vacancy of the Chairman of the Board.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company’s corporate governance practices to ensure compliance 
with the Code.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

During the year, the Directors provided the Company and its subsidiaries with a wide range of expertise and experience. 
Their active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought independent judgment on issues relating to the 
Group’s strategy, performance and management process, taking into account the interests of all shareholders of the 
Company. Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of the Non-Executive Directors and INED has entered into 
a service contract with the Company for three years but subject to termination in certain circumstance as stimulated in 
the relevant service contracts. At each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being (of if their 
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third) will retire from office by rotation 
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. 
Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after his/her 
appointment and be eligible for re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed as an addition to the existing 
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for 
re-election.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties and has adopted written terms of reference on its 
corporate governance functions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions include:

(i)	 developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(ii)	 reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 
management;

(iii)	 reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(iv)	 developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 
and Directors; and

(v)	 reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.



18 On Real International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020/21

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the corporate 
governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board 
that should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the 
Group’s business and compliance with policies. The composition and diversity policies of the Board is reviewed annually 
and regularly. The Board should ensure that its changes in composition will not result in any undue interference. The 
Board members should possess appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing duties and 
functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the Company’s situations and need. While participating 
in nomination and recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member of the Board may consider 
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or 
professional experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various business development and 
management. The Board has to review the policy concerning diversity of Board members and to disclose the policy or 
a summary of the policy in the corporate governance report, including any quantitative targets and standards and its 
progress with policy implementation.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are 
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee on 16 September 2015 with written terms of reference that set out 
the authorities and duties of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available at the 
Company’s website and on the website of the Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee performs, amongst others, the 
following functions:

•	 To review the financial information of the Group.

•	 To review the relationship with and terms of appointment of the external auditor.

•	 To review the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control system and 
risk management system.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings. The Audit Committee oversaw the internal control system of the 
Group, reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021, quarterly and half 
yearly results, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, selection and appointment of the external 
auditor, reports to the Board on any material issues, and made recommendations to the Board. There had been no 
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee during the financial year ended 31 March 2021.
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As at 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee comprises three members namely:

Mr. Wong Ching Wan (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Shiu Man
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu

All the members are INEDs who possess the appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial 
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing 
external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee was set up on 16 September 2015, with written terms of reference in compliance with the 
code provisions of the CG Code, which have been reviewed from time to time by the Board to keep them in line with the 
most up-to-date requirements to oversee the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management. 
The most up-to-date written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the Company’s website 
and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and the senior management and determining the remuneration 
packages of all Executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible to 
ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which will 
be determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and 
conditions.

The Remuneration Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and 
responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance based 
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration packages and emoluments of Directors and 
senior management and considered that they are fair and reasonable during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year. The members reviewed the remuneration package of 
Directors and the senior management of the Company.

As at 31 March 2021, the Remuneration Committee comprises three members namely:

Mr. Chan Shiu Man (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ching Wan
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu

All the members are INEDs.
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In addition, pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the number of non-director senior management 
whose annual remuneration by band during the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below, details of the Directors 
remuneration are set out in note 14:

2021  

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee on 16 September 2015 for making recommendations to the 
Board on appointment of Directors and succession planning for the directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition, making recommendations 
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors, reviewing and recommending for the Board’s 
approval of the proposed resolution for re-election of the retiring Directors at 2021 AGM, reviewing the structure, size, 
composition and diversity of the Board and assessing the independence of each INED.

In considering the appointment of new directors, the Nomination Committee assessed the relevant candidates on criteria 
such as integrity, independent mindedness, experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out their duties 
and responsibilities effectively etc., and made recommendation to the Board for approval.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Yeung Shing Wai, Ms. Sin Pui Ying and Mr. Wong Ching Wan shall 
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in accordance with its terms of reference and may also 
deal with matters by way of circulation. The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year. The Nomination 
Committee recommended the re-appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company.

As at 31 March 2021, the Nomination Committee comprises three members namely:

Mr. Cheng Chai Fu (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Shiu Man
Mr. Wong Ching Wan

Majority of the members are INEDs.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year which 
gives a true and fair view. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the accounting principles generally 
accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance were complied with. 
The Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, and made 
judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial statements 
are prepared on a going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal control systems in order to safeguard the Group’s 
assets and shareholders’ interests and review and monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk 
management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management systems in place 
are adequate. The Company has established written policies and procedures applicable to all operating units to ensure 
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company also has a process for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks to the achievement of its operational objective. This process is subject to continuous improvement and 
was in place throughout the year and up to the date of this report. The day-to-day operation is entrusted to the individual 
department, which is accountable for its own conduct and performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies 
set by the Board. The Company carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control systems from time to time 
in order to ensure that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and ever changing business environment.

To control risks in relation to sanctions laws under the US, the European Union and Australia, the Company endeavours 
to continuously monitor and evaluate the business and take measures to protect the interest of the Group and 
shareholders. In particular, the Company have adopted the policies as stated in the section headed “Risk Factors” in the 
Prospectus.
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Russia is one of our shipment destinations of our products. Our revenue generated from the sales of our products 
shipped to Russia represented less than 0.2% in terms of our total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021. Following 
Russia’s military intervention in Ukraine in 2014, the United States, the European Union and Australia have put in place 
certain economic or trade sanctions against, among others, certain named Russian individuals and entities. To control 
and monitor our business exposure to sanction risk, the Company endeavors to continuously monitor and evaluate 
our business and take measure to protect the interest of the Group and Shareholders. In particular, the Company has 
adopted the following policies during the year ended 31 March 2021:

(i)	 the Company has maintained an updated log on the publicly available sanction lists maintained by the United 
States, the European Union and Australia (the “Sanction Lists”) and has disseminated the updated Sanction Lists 
to all its relevant staff on a regular basis to promote staff awareness in general and to facilitate effective monitoring 
of sanction laws;

(ii)	 any existing and/or potential business dealings that become suspected of sanctions risks exposure had been 
ceased and reported to the Directors immediately, whereupon the Directors has investigated and consulted with 
legal advisers with necessary expertise and experience in international sanction law matters and taken appropriate 
actions;

(iii)	 Mr. Yeung Shing Wai, an executive Director of the Company, has been overseeing our compliance with sanctions 
laws and has consulted legal advisers with necessary expertise and experience in international sanctions law 
matters as and when required in respect of our compliance with sanction laws;

(iv)	 the Company has evaluated the sanctions risks prior to determining whether the Company should embark on new 
business opportunities. The senior management has conducted relevant customer due diligence including, without 
limitation, identity and background of customers and their principal business activities and check against the 
Sanction Lists to identify any possible exposure to sanction risks. Whenever potential sanctions risk is identified, the 
Company had sought advice from legal advisers with necessary expertise and experience in international sanctions 
law matters. The Company has also conducted semi-annual review of active customers against the Sanction Lists 
to ascertain our active customers do not fall under any named entities or individuals under the Sanction Lists; and

(v)	 the senior management of the Company has reviewed on a semi-annual basis our internal control policies and 
procedures with respect to sanctions law matters.

With regard to the above policies adopted, the Directors are of the view that such policies have provided a reasonably 
adequate and effective framework to assist the Company in identifying and monitoring any material risk relating to 
sanctions laws.

The Company confirms that it has not entered and will not enter into any transaction in Russia that the Company believed 
would put itself or its investors and Shareholders to risks of being sanctioned.

The Directors are of the view that given the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, the Group uses 
internal resources to comply with internal audit function to perform the review on risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group. The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed on an on-going 
basis by the Audit Committee and the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least once each year by the 
Board.
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During the year, the Board and Audit Committee have conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control systems including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management. 
Such review covered the financial, compliance and operational controls as well as risk management mechanisms and 
assessment which was made by discussions with the management of the Company and its external auditor. The Board 
believes that the existing internal control system is adequate and effective.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) was re-appointed as the external auditor for the financial year ending 31 March 
2021. The statement of Elite in respect of its reporting responsibilities and opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this 
annual report.

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering the appointment of the external auditor and 
reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the external auditor, including whether such non-audit functions could 
lead to any potential material adverse effect on the Company.

The fees paid/payable to Elite during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out as follows:

Fee paid/payable
HK$’000  

Audit services 425,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and facilitating communications 
among Directors as well as with shareholders and management.

From 1 April 2020 to 1 December 2020, the Company Secretary was Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan. On 1 December 2020, Mr. 
Hui Man Ho Ivan resigned as the Company Secretary and Ms. Wu Man Ki Maggie has been appointed as the Company 
Secretary. On 4 May 2021, Ms. Wu Man Ki Maggie resigned as the Company Secretary and Mr. Lee Cheuk Man has 
been appointed as the Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan and Ms. Wu 
Man Ki Maggie had undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update their skill and knowledge.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed 
to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investment public.

The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance through its 
quarterly, interim and annual reports. The corporate website of the Company (www.on-real.com) has provided an 
effective communication platform to the public and the shareholders.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of 
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills. The Company has continuously provided relevant training materials to the Directors. Directors 
participated in courses relating to roles, functions and duties of a listed company director or further enhancement of 
their professional development by the way of attending training courses or reading relevant materials. All Directors had 
provided the Company their training records for the year under review and the Company will continue to arrange the 
training in accordance with Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code. The Directors and officers are indemnified under a 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in discharge of their duties while holding 
office as the Directors and officers of the Company. The Directors and officers shall not be indemnified where there is any 
fraud, breach of duty or breach of trust proven against them.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our shareholders with detailed information about the Company 
so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business 
imperatives. These include annual general meeting, annual report, various notices, announcements and circulars. The 
annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company are primary forums for communication between 
the Company and its shareholders. The Company provides shareholders with relevant information on the resolution(s) 
proposed at general meetings in a timely manner in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. The information provided 
is reasonably necessary to enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). All the 
resolutions proposed to be approved at the general meetings will be taken by poll and poll voting results will be published 
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after the meetings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year. A consolidated 
version of the Company’s constitutional documents is available on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock 
Exchange.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility in respect of the operation of a listed company, and 
for the maintenance of good corporate governance, the Company would notify the Stock Exchange and make relevant 
disclosure to the public as soon as practicable of any inside information of the Company pursuant to the GEM Listing 
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman 
Islands Companies Law (2012 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article 58 of the Articles of 
Association which provides that extraordinary general meetings should be convened on the requisition of one or more 
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid-up capital of the 
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the 
secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction 
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such 
requisition. If the Board fails to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting within 21 days of the deposit of the 
requisition, the requisitionist(s) may convene an extraordinary general meeting himself/themselves, and all reasonable 
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) 
by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a director of the Company are laid down in Article 
85 of the Articles of Association. No person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for 
election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to 
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall 
have been lodged at the principal place of business in Hong Kong or at the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar. The 
period for lodgment of the notices required under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch 
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such 
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be given will be 
at least 7 days.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention of company secretary, by email: 
enquiry@on-real.com, or by post to G/F., 200 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and publishes periodic reports and 
announcements to the public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is 
to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors 
as well as the public to make rational and informed decisions.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance could ensure an effective distribution of the resources and 
shareholders’ interests. The senior management will continue endeavors in maintaining, enhancing and increasing the 
Group’s corporate governance level and quality.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report published by On Real International Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) highlights the sustainable development initiatives and ESG performance of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group” or “we”) from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “Year”).

Scope of the Report

The ESG report focuses on the Group’s production plant (the “Yunfu Factory”) in Xincheng Industrial Park in Yunfu, 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and its performance in environmental and social aspects during the Year, 
and discloses the key performance indicators of the Yunfu Factory for the Year. For details of our corporate governance, 
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 25 of the Company’s annual report.

Reporting Framework

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in 
Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Information and Feedback

For more information on the Company’s environmental, social and corporate governance, please refer to its official 
website (http://www.on-real.com/) and the annual report of On Real International Holdings Limited. If you have any 
opinions or suggestions about this ESG report, please feel free to contact us via email at enquiry@on-real.com.

MANAGEMENT OF ESG RESPONSIBILITIES

To implement sustainable development strategies in an effective manner and offer long-term returns to the stakeholders, 
the board of directors of the Group (the “Board”) is responsible for ESG management. It is the responsibility of the Board 
to oversee the Group’s formulation of ESG strategies and ESG reporting matters, as well as to evaluate and determine 
the Group’s ESG risks so as to establish suitable and effective ESG risk management measures and internal control 
systems. Assisted by internal auditing procedures, the Board arranges regular independent evaluation and analyses of 
the effectiveness and adequacy of the aforementioned systems in order to perfect the Group’s ESG governance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The compilation of the ESG report represents the joint effort of the employees from various departments and gives us a 
better understanding of the Group’s current level of development in environmental and social aspects. The information 
we have collected not only summarizes the Group’s environmental and social efforts during the Year, but also lays the 
groundwork for the formulation of short-term and long-term sustainable development strategies.

To enhance the relevancy of the ESG report, the Group engaged an independent third-party consultant to help us gather 
ESG opinions from internal stakeholders for the preparation of the ESG report for the Year. All opinions received by 
us can help us improve our internal management while enhancing the quality of the ESG report. Therefore, the Group 
attaches great importance to stakeholders’ opinions. To communicate with the stakeholders effectively, we listen and 
respond to the expectations and requirements of different stakeholders through a wide range of channels.

The Group will continue to strive for higher stakeholder engagement and collect valuable opinions about the Group’s 
business and ESG performance from different stakeholders in a more comprehensive manner.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group continues to strictly abide by the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Law of the PRC on the Prevention 
and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of 
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste and the Environmental Protection Law 
of the PRC. For better management and control of the environment and compliance with national emission standards, 
the Group has formulated relevant procedures to involve all departments and units in environmental protection. The 
Yunfu Factory has obtained GB/T 24001–2016/ISO14001:2015 environmental management system certification.

Although the Group is not a highly-polluting enterprise, we still work with the environmental monitoring authorities to 
regularly monitor the exhaust gas, wastewater and other pollutants generated from the factory. If any problems are found 
during the monitoring process, we will take timely corrective actions to ensure that the emissions meet the relevant 
emission standards. We have also formulated greening plan for the production and living areas, to make good use of 
the open space and roadside space in the production and living areas to plant flowers, lawn and trees for the greening 
of environment. In order to enhance the staff’s environmental awareness, the Yunfu Factory continued to conduct 
environmental protection training for our staff during the Year.

Emission Treatment

The Group’s waste falls into three categories, namely recyclable waste, non-recyclable waste and regulated waste. For 
the recyclable waste, the Group has put forward the notion of effective use of resources. For example, substandard 
products identified in any production procedure are broken down and reused to the fullest extent until further reuse is 
impossible, after which the waste will be collected by recyclers. During the Year, the Yunfu Factory recycled 0.16 tonne 
of non-hazardous waste in aggregate, including waste lead-free solder residue. Non-reusable materials and hazardous 
waste (such as electronic waste) are transferred to qualified companies for recycling to reduce the pollution caused by 
waste disposal. The Yunfu Factory generated 10 waste light tubes during the Year. As for the non-recyclable waste, it is 
segregated at designated locations for central disposal by the environmental hygiene department.

The Group’s wastewater includes wastewater discharged from cooling towers and domestic sewage. Cooling water 
from cooling towers will be recycled for use. Therefore, the amount of effluent from cooling towers is minimal. During the 
recycling process, the cooling water comes into contact with air and some of the water evaporates. In order to maintain 
the quality of circulating water, wastewater in the cooling tower is regularly discharged into septic tanks and the water is 
replenished. Domestic sewage generated by employees and greasy sewage from kitchens constitute the major part of 
our sewage. Domestic sewage from employees’ activities must pass through the septic tanks for basic treatment before 
being discharged. Regular cleaning of septic tanks is also arranged to ensure the normal operation of the tanks. Greasy 
sewage from kitchens, on the other hand, must pass through grease traps and filters for basic treatment. After such 
basic treatments, the domestic sewage from employees’ activities and greasy sewage from kitchen are transferred to the 
sewage plant of the industrial park through sewage pipe for subsequent treatment.
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In the Year, the Yunfu Factory engaged a third-party service provider to conduct tests on its domestic sewage, and the 
results have met the discharge standards under the Standards of Sewage Treatment and Inlet Water Technology for 
Xincheng Industrial Park in Xinxing County. Detailed data on the discharged domestic sewage are as follows:

Name of pollutants
Discharge 

concentration
Discharge limit of 

the standard   

pH Value 7.17 6–9
Total suspended solid (TSS) 10mg/L 90mg/L
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) 30mg/L 250mg/L
Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) 9.9mg/L 110mg/L
Ammonia nitrogen 14.6mg/L 25mg/L  

Regarding the exhaust gas and dust generated during the production process, the Group reduces dust emitted from the 
filling of vessel to the utmost in order to mitigate the adverse environmental impact. All production departments have the 
responsibilities to ensure that their ventilation systems operate normally and provide a safe working environment for the 
employees. The Group continues to strictly abide by the national provisions on vehicle tailpipe emissions and performs 
regular maintenance on the vehicles to ensure that their tailpipe emissions meet required standards.

In the Year, the Yunfu Factory engaged a third-party service provider to conduct tests on the air emissions from its 
production, and the results have met the emission standard under the Emission Limits of Air Pollutants (DB44/27–2001) 
of Guangdong Province. Detailed data on the air emissions from our production are as follows:

Name of pollutants
Discharge 

concentration
Discharge limit of 

the standard   

Non-methane hydrocarbons 0mg/m3 120mg/m3

Tin and its compounds 0.027mg/m3 8.5mg/m3

  

Resource Conservation

The Group has taken various resource conversation measures to improve its resource efficiency. To monitor the use of 
resources effectively, the Yunfu Factory collects statistics of its electricity, water and paper consumption as well as the 
amount of waste recycled on a monthly basis to formulate corresponding consumption control measures.

In respect of the materials used in the production process, procurements are made strictly in accordance to our 
production plans, and regular inventory checks are conducted in order to effectively control the consumption of materials. 
We also store the materials in a proper manner and check the materials from time to time so as to avoid material being 
wasted due to improper storage. To maximise the use of every material, the Yunfu Factory even recycled the scraps and 
wastes generated from the production process.



29Annual Report 2020/21  On Real International Holdings Limited

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

For efficient use of electricity, we use T5 fluorescent lamps, light-emitting diodes and other energy-efficient lighting 
fixtures as well as sectional lighting system, and install motion sensors in areas not frequently in use. We also put up 
notices for energy conservation in offices, encourage employees to turn off unused electronic equipment, air conditioners 
and lights, and set indoor temperature at 25.5 degrees Celsius to reduce power consumption. Furthermore, the Yunfu 
Factory minimises the use of, and avoids frequently turning on, production equipment with larger power consumption as 
far as possible with the aim of reducing wastage of electricity.

In order to avoid wastage of water, notices about water conservation are displayed in toilets to remind employees to turn 
off the faucet tightly after use. We also regularly check the water pipes and run leakage tests so as to ensure the good 
condition of our water pipes and prevent leakage. Dripping facilities are repaired in a prompt manner.

To save paper, we encourage employees to reuse or use both sides of paper, and resort to electronic platforms for 
information dissemination. We have recycling bins to collect paper, such as waste paper, posters and envelopes, which 
will be sent to a waste paper recycling company for recycling. During the Year, the Yunfu Factory recycled 30 kg of 
waste paper in total, representing a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions of 144 kg in terms of CO2 equivalent. As 
part of its effort in environmental protection, the Group selects printing and tissue paper made of recycled materials, and 
encourages employees to use video conferencing instead of unnecessary overseas business trip while direct flights are 
chosen for inevitable business travel to reduce carbon emissions.

VALUE OUR EMPLOYEES

Through our persistent and strict conformity to employment-related laws and regulations, such as the Labour Law of the 
PRC and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and adamant adherence to the “People-oriented” business philosophy, 
our employees are entitled to equal treatment at workplace and fair chance of promotion, a transparent remuneration 
and benefit system, as well as adequate rest time.

Employees’ Rights

Annual human resources plans are in place to align manpower with the development need of our business. Following 
the principles of openness, equal opportunities and fair competition, the Group assigns the Personnel Administration 
Department to carry out recruitment based on the position requirements of various departments. Candidates who 
meet the job requirements have equal interview opportunities and are not discriminated on the basis of gender, race, 
religious belief, age, disability or any other factors. Every staff has the right to work in a working environment free 
from any harassment. When complaints in relation to harassment and discrimination are received, we will keep the 
information confidential for the relevant staff and conduct thorough investigation and handling procedures. To prevent the 
accidental use of child labour, newly recruited employees are required to provide us with the copy of their identity cards 
to ensure that they have reached the legal age of employment. As part of our commitment against forced labour, we 
and our employees enter into labour contracts, in which the relevant information of the posts is clearly specified. Acting 
in accordance with national laws and regulations, the Group provides the employees with social insurance, including 
retirement insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and work injury insurance, and 
ensures that the working hours of the employees complies with local laws and regulations. In principle, the Group does 
not encourage overtime work. If any employee voluntarily works overtime due to our production and business needs, the 
Yunfu Factory will offer overtime payment or time off in lieu of payment in accordance with the law. In addition to statutory 
leaves, employees are also entitled to marriage leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and annual 
leave. We regularly assess the employees’ performance as a basis for remuneration adjustment, promotion and year-
end bonuses. For resigned employees, payments of outstanding salaries are made on time in accordance with national 
laws and regulations after the handover of their duties. We also value the opinions and requests of our staff. Therefore, 
the Yunfu Factory has placed a mailbox for complaint letters at the office. After receiving any complaints, we will conduct 
investigation and adopt relevant improvement measures.
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Training and Development

To build a competent team that can accomplish the business development objectives of the Group, a staff training plan 
is implemented and subject to annual adjustment to improve the quality and efficiency of our employees. To facilitate 
a quick adaptation to the working environment, all new employees must attend induction courses organised by the 
Personnel Administration Department to understand and get acquainted with the rules and regulations, history and 
overview of the Group. New employees must pass an on-board examination upon completion of the induction courses 
before they can be formally employed. It is also compulsory for them to participate in the training provided by the 
relevant departments, which covers the work and responsibilities of their posts. We also provide on-the-job training for 
our employees. Each department organises relevant training activities in accordance with the annual training plan. For 
example, the Engineering Department organises annual training on the production technologies, products and technology 
updates of the Group’s products. In addition, the Group also provides relevant professional training for employees 
according to its business needs. Professional training and seminars conducted by experts and scholars are also available 
to outstanding employees for the sake of skill enhancement.

Health and Safety

The Group has given much care to the physical and mental health of the employees, insists on the “safety first, 
prevention-oriented and comprehensive management” safety production approach, and continues to strictly abide by the 
laws and regulations concerning occupational safety and health, such as the Safe Production Law of the PRC, the Law 
of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and the Regulations on the Safety Management of 
Hazardous Chemicals. Keeping the working environment tidy and clean at all times, the Yunfu Factory has completely 
executed the “7S” management to provide its employees with a safe and comfortable working environment.

According to the safety production management system, we regularly develop safety production targets, identify, assess 
and control the safety risks in the production process, and ensure the personal safety of our employees. Production 
safety meetings are held regularly to deal with any major problems in the production safety aspect and monitor the 
implementation of the production safety targets. In addition, our employees are provided with pre-employment and 
pre-departure health checks, as well as protective gears, such as protective gloves, earplugs and anti-virus masks to 
reduce their susceptibility to occupational diseases. We have also established relevant systems for the management 
of hazardous chemicals in accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations. Designated employees are also 
assigned to take charge of the management of hazardous chemicals and to inspect the storage and safety conditions of 
the chemicals to avoid leakage.

For a better understanding of the Group’s occupational safety policy and higher occupational health and safety 
awareness, safety skills and self-protection ability among our employees, we provide safety training for them, launch 
regular “three-tier” production safety education and promote production safety among them. The contents of safety 
training include laws and regulations related to safety production, safety management policies, rules and regulations of 
the Group, safety knowledge for machinery operation and how to use personal protective gears.

No substantial incidents resulted in any work-related deaths or injuries among the employees were recorded by the 
Yunfu Factory during the Year.
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COVID-19 Pandemic

As the COVID-19 pandemic swept across China and the globe, the most critical focus for every organization is to keep 
employees safe in an environment where repeated outbreaks are a persistent threat. To achieve this, the Group has set 
up a pandemic prevention committee and deployed a comprehensive set of policies and guidelines, including enhanced 
hygiene measures, provision of additional personal protective equipment, and modifications to existing governance and 
behaviors. These include formalizing and standardizing operating procedures and processes that help keep staff safe, 
and increasing the purchase of hygiene products such as masks, sanitizers and thermometers.

OPERATING PRACTICES

The Group is committed to a client-oriented philosophy during the operation processes ranging from supplier selection, 
production to the delivery of products to clients. Devoting ourselves to the provision of high quality products to clients 
flawlessly has always been our goal. For all promotional information available to the public, we place high importance 
to their truthfulness and therefore thoroughly verify all their contents with the aim of prohibiting the dissemination of 
fraudulent information and strictly standardising promotional works.

Supplier Management

To make sure that all raw materials procured complies with the Group’s requirements, we have developed a supplier 
management system for a more effective management of our suppliers at source. Lists of qualified suppliers for different 
major raw materials, components and parts needed in our production process are compiled and regularly reviewed. 
The supplier selection process involves the consideration of the scale of production, manufacturing capabilities, industry 
reputation, product quality and possession of any licenses and certificates, such as the Restriction of Hazardous 
Substances Directive (the “RoHS”) certification, of the suppliers. Before entering into cooperation with any new supplier, 
the new supplier has to provide samples of their raw materials, components and parts for our Product Research 
and Development Department and Production Department to jointly decide whether the samples provided meet our 
manufacturing and production requirements. Upon confirmation of cooperation, the new suppliers will be added to the 
lists of qualified suppliers.

Protection of Customers’ Interests

The Group believes that the quality of its products and high satisfaction of the customers are essential for its business to 
grow sustainably. Therefore, the Group emphasises product quality and endeavours to provide the customers with high 
quality products. To this end, we have taken a number of testing procedures to ensure our product quality, and the Yunfu 
Factory has also obtained IATF16949:2016 international automotive industry quality management system certification. 
We continue to strictly abide by the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Product Quality Law of the PRC, to 
ensure that the products meet quality requirements. Also, we comply with laws and regulations in relation to intellectual 
properties, such as the Copyright Law of the PRC, the Patent Law of the PRC and the Trademark Law of the PRC.

In order to ensure that the raw materials procured meet the requirements of the Group and to prevent any adverse 
impact of the raw materials on the Group’s products, our inspectors conduct random sampling tests before the receipt of 
raw materials. The raw materials that passed the sampling tests are then transferred to the warehouses; those unqualified 
raw materials identified in the sampling tests will be returned to the suppliers. During the production process, we also 
conduct a number of quality control checks. For example, injection molded plastic parts and welded circuit boards 
need to pass the quality control inspection before being put into use. Contractors who are in charge of certain casing 
assembly processes are also required to comply with the Group’s quality requirements. The assembled products need 
to pass functional tests to ensure their normal operation. Customers can also send inspectors to inspect our products if 
necessary according to their needs. Any unqualified products will be sent back to the production line for comprehensive 
screening or re-processing to ensure that the product specifications are in line with the customer’s product requirements.
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The Group also provides high quality after-sales service to maintain the quality and sustainability of the products. We 
are committed to maintaining close relationship with our customers, adjusting and developing products to meet market 
needs with reference to the customer’s preferences and demands. After delivery of the finished products, the customers 
are responsible for the complaints and product returns from the final consumers. After receiving any complaints, we will 
consider remedial measures for individual cases in which the damage to the product is related to the product design or 
manufacturing.

Data Confidentiality

The Group has always respected the privacy of its customers and spared no effort to protect customer information and 
internal confidential documents against leakage. Therefore, employees are required to sign confidentiality agreements 
and maintain the privacy and confidentiality of all the business information of the Group. Employees are provided with a 
code of conduct on the use of computers and are required to keep their computers and materials properly to avoid loss 
of data. Employees also have to use copyrighted software to respect intellectual property. In addition, since some of the 
casing assembly processes are handled by contractors, the contractors need to comply with the outsourcing agreement 
and strictly refrain from disclosing any confidential information of the Group’s or the customers’ products to ensure 
information security.

Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Criminal Law of the PRC, and prohibits 
all kinds of bribery, corruption and money-laundering. We adopt a “zero tolerant” approach towards abuse of power, 
corruption, embezzlement or misappropriation of the Group’s assets, and engagement in malpractice or bribery are not 
tolerated. We also require our employees to sign a statement of conflict of interest and undertake to inform us of any 
potential conflicts of interest with the Group. The Yunfu Factory also stresses workplace integrity through organising anti-
corruption and anti-bribery related training to its employees. Committed to the highest standard of openness, integrity 
and accountability, we encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct or malpractice. Upon receipt of a 
report, we will conduct an investigation to take follow-up actions. The identity of the whistle-blower will be kept strictly 
confidential to avoid unfair treatment.

No cases of corruption were recorded and no internal reports were received by the Yunfu Factory during the Year.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

In the pursuit of business development, the Group also encourages its employees to actively participate in charitable 
activities to help the disadvantaged and make contribution to the community.

During the Year, most of the social activities have been disrupted under the effect of COVID-19. The Group kept making 
donations to the Charity. The Group will continuously contribute to the community and foster employees’ sense of social 
responsibility.
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MAJOR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The data of the Yunfu Factory’s key performance indicators for the Year are listed below. 

Environmental Indicators 2021 2020   

Emission from vehicles
Nitrogen Oxide (in Kg) 150 200
Sulphur Dioxide (in Kg) 1 1
Particulate matters (in Kg) 35 40   

Greenhouse gas
Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes of CO2 equivalent) 280 306

Scope 1: Direct emissions (in tonnes of CO2 equivalent) 50 50
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions (in tonnes of CO2 equivalent) 220 251
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions (in tonnes of CO2 equivalent) 10 5

Greenhouse gas emissions per production line  
(in tonnes of CO2 equivalent/production line) 69 77   

Waste
Non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 4.2 22
Non-hazardous waste produced per production line  

(in tonnes/production line) 1.05 5.5   

Use of resource
Energy consumption in total (in MWh) 730 1,311

Energy consumption from the use of gasoline (in MWh) 0 145
Energy consumption from the use of diesel oil (in MWh) 130 133
Energy consumption from the use of electricity (in MWh) 450 1,033

Energy consumption per production line (in MWh/production line) 150 284
Water consumption in total (in m3) 1,788 6,182
Water consumption per production line (in m3/production line) 447 1,137   

Packaging material used
Paper product consumption (in tonnes) 150 276
Paper product consumption per production line (in tonnes/production line) 37 92.5
Plastic product consumption (in tonnes) 14 18
Plastic product consumption per production line (in tonnes/production line) 3.5 4.5   
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The Board has the pleasure in presenting the annual report of the Company together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the 
consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating segment is set out in 
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 
45 to 111 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year and analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key 
performance indicators and prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the sections headed “Chairman 
Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 10 of the annual report. The 
discussion forms part of this Director’s report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the shares capital of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2021, calculated under Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961 
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$16,581,000 (2020: approximately 
HK$29,992,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) 
or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out on page 112 of the 
annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has 
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter 
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the 
year or subsisted at the end of the year, except for the share option schemes of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed by the 
Company’s shareholders on 16 September 2015 for the primary purpose is to attract, retain and motivate talented 
participants, to strive for future developments and expansion of the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include 
any employees, any executives, Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors), advisors, 
consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on which the Scheme is 
adopted, after which period no further share options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall in all other 
respects remain in full force and effect and share options which are granted during the life of the Scheme may continue 
to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue. The principal terms of which were summarised in the paragraph 
headed “Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

No share options had been granted, agreed to be granted, exercised, cancelled, expired or lapsed under the Scheme 
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The Company did not have any outstanding share options, warrants and convertible 
instruments into shares as at 31 March 2021 and the date of this report. The total number of shares of the Company 
which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme was 26,880,000 shares (adjusted 
as a result of share consolidation effected on 6 February 2020) of the Company, representing approximately 4.5% of the 
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and the date of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company are set out in note 16 to the 
consolidated financial statement.

BORROWINGS

Details of movements during the year in borrowings regarding bank borrowings and lease liabilities of the Group are set 
out in notes 24 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Lung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Yeung Shing Wai
Ms. Sin Pui Ying

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Tao Hong Ming
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Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Ching Wan
Mr. Chan Shiu Man
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yeung Shing Wai and Ms. Sin Pui Ying will retire by 
rotation and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of 
the Company (“AGM”). Mr. Wong Ching Wan will retire by rotation and has not offered himself for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, none of the directors or the chief executive of the Company had, nor were they taken to or 
deemed to have under Part XV of the SFO, any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or any interests which are 
required to be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any 
arrangements to enable the directors or chief executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18 
years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 
body corporates.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 March 2021, so far as known to the Directors, the following substantial shareholders had, or were deemed to have, 
interests or short positions, in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be 
kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name Capacity Number of shares
Percentage of 
shareholding    

Solution Smart Holdings Limited  
(“Solution Smart”) (Note 1)

Beneficial owner 112,589,600 18.81%

Mr. Chung Wai Sum 
(“Mr. Chung”) (Note 1)

Interest in a controlled corporation 112,589,600 18.81%

SMK Investment Company Limited  
(“SMK”) (Note 2)

Beneficial owner 90,997,600 15.20%

Mr. Kor Sing Mung Michael (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 90,997,600 15.20%

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Chung Wai Sum is the sole beneficial shareholder of Solution Smart. Therefore, Mr. Chung is deemed to be interested in 

112,589,600 shares of the Company held by Solution Smart under the SFO.

2.	 Mr. Kor Sing Mung Michael, is the sole beneficial shareholder of SMK. Therefore, Mr. Kor Sing Mung Michael is deemed to be 

interested in 90,997,600 shares of the Company held by SMK under the SFO.

3.	 All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other person who has an interest or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares (including interest in options, if any) of the Company as recorded in the register required to 
be kept under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as 
follows:

Percentage of 
the Group’s 

total purchases  

The largest supplier 25.4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 39.4%

Percentage of 
the Group’s 

total sales  

The largest customer 45.7%
Five largest customers in aggregate 89.1%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% 
of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in these major supplier and customers.

DONATIONS

No charitable donations and other donation has been made during the year (2020: HK$Nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The possible business risks and uncertainties, interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk facing by the Group are 
set out in section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 10. The financial risk management 
objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statement.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

The Board has pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report for the year ended 31 
March 2021. This report has been prepared with reference to ESG Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange and 
is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance report” in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 is contained in 
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain related party transactions also constituted continuing connected 
transactions, but are exempted from the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements 
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.



39Annual Report 2020/21  On Real International Holdings Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is 
confirmed that there is a sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable 
date prior to issue of this report under the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions disclosed under the heading “Related Party Transactions” as set out in note 34 of this annual 
report, there were no other contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party 
and which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, 
the management of the Company and their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) that compete 
or may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such person has or may 
have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association 164(1) provides that every Director, Company Secretary and other officers of 
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company 
from and against any actions, cost, charges, losses, damages and expenses, as a result of any act done, concurred in 
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty. The Company has also maintained the Directors and officers liability 
insurance during the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Elite and a resolution for the re-appointment as auditor of 
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Yeung Shing Wai
Executive Director

24 June 2021
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TO THE MEMBERS OF ON REAL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of On Real International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to 111, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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VALUATION OF INVENTORIES

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group had carrying value of inventories amounted to 
approximately HK$24,398,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value.

We have identified the valuation of inventories as a key 
audit matter since the allowance for inventories involved 
significant degree of judgements and estimates made 
by the management on the calculation of allowance for 
inventories 

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the 
adequacy of the Group’s provisions against inventories 
included the following:

We corroborated on a sample basis that items on the 
inventories ageing listing were classified in the appropriate 
ageing bracket;

We challenged the assumptions made by the management 
on the extent to inventories can be sold;

We considered the historical information obtained as 
evidence for evaluating the appropriateness of the 
assumptions made in the current year including how these 
compare to the experience in previous years; and

When considering management’s assessment on the 
valuation for inventories, we had also taken into account the 
most recent prices achieved on sales of different products 
and the level of inventories to be utilised after the year end.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN RECEIVABLE

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of trade 
and other receivables (excluded prepayment and 
value-added tax receivables) and loan receivable, net 
of allowance for credit losses of HK$10,614,000 and 
HK$3,000,000, are approximately HK$29,745,000 and 
nil respectively. Management judgment was required 
in assessing and determining the recoverability of 
trade and other receivables (excluded prepayment and 
value-added tax receivables) and loan receivable, and 
evaluated the adequacy of allowance made.

In determining whether there was objective evidence of 
impairment loss, the Group took into consideration the 
credit history of the customers and the current market 
condition which may require management judgment.

We focused on this area due to the assessment of 
allowance for credit losses of trade and other receivables 
and loan receivable involved the use of significant 
management judgments and estimates.

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s 
impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and 
loan receivable included:

We discussed the Group’s procedures on credit period 
given to customers with the management;

We checked, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of the 
trade and other receivables and loan receivable as at 31 
March 2021 to the underlying financial records and post 
year-end settlements to bank receipts;

We inquired of management for the status of each of the 
material trade and other receivables and loan receivable past 
due as at 31 March 2021 and corroborated explanations 
from management with supporting evidence, such as 
understanding on-going business relationship with the 
customers based on trade records, checked historical and 
subsequent settlement records of and other correspondence 
with the customers; and

We assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit 
loss provisioning methodology, examined the key data 
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and 
completeness, and challenged the assumptions, including 
both historical and forward-looking information, used to 
determine the expected credit losses.

We considered the management conclusion to be consistent 
with the available information.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Siu Jimmy with Practising 
Certificate Number P05898.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

24 June 2021
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Revenue 5 250,599 334,586
Cost of sales (244,786) (303,720)  

Gross profit 5,813 30,866
Other income 7 8,170 4,290
Other gains and losses 8 (4,958) (193)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model,  

net of reversal 9 (4,370) (4,524)
Selling and distribution expenses (3,896) (5,432)
Administrative expenses (33,173) (38,906)
Finance costs 10 (2,003) (4,445)  

Loss before tax (34,417) (18,344)
Income tax expense 11 (169) (1,133)  

Loss for the year 12 (34,586) (19,477)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 2,125 (2,892)
Reclassification adjustment for a foreign operation  

deregistration of — 1,388
Reclassification adjustment for a foreign operation  

disposed of — 37  

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 2,125 (1,467)  

Total comprehensive expense for the year (32,461) (20,944)  

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (34,581) (19,474)
Non-controlling interests (5) (3)  

(34,586) (19,477)  

Total comprehensive expense for  
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (32,456) (20,941)
Non-controlling interests (5) (3)  

(32,461) (20,944)  
Loss per share (HK cents) 13

Basic and diluted (5.78) (4.75)  
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 — 1,990
Right-of-use assets 17 313 151
Intangible assets 18 — 627
Investment deposit 5,400 —
Deposit and prepayment 20 136 355  

5,849 3,123  

Current assets
Inventories 19 24,398 24,380
Trade and other receivables 20 43,942 107,974
Loan receivable 21 — —
Tax recoverable — 1,180
Pledged bank deposits 22 1,158 1,085
Bank balances and cash 22 11,815 46,811  

81,313 181,430  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 37,590 66,318
Borrowings 24 15,560 53,243
Amount due to a related company 25 2,281 1,188
Lease liabilities 26 359 155
Income tax payables — 131  

55,790 121,035  

Net current assets 25,523 60,395  

Total assets less current liabilities 31,372 63,518  

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 26 315 —  

Net assets 31,057 63,518  
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 7,481 7,481
Reserves 23,513 55,969  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 30,994 63,450
Non-controlling interests 63 68  

Total equity 31,057 63,518  

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2021 
and are signed on its behalf by:

  
Ms. Sin Pui Ying Mr. Yeung Shing Wai

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

PRC 
statutory 

reserve
Exchange 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (a)) (Note (b))          

As at 1 April 2019 4,800 75,468 (5,826) 5,346 2,376 (18,883) 63,281 71 63,352

Loss for the year — — — — — (19,474) (19,474) (3) (19,477)
Other comprehensive expense for the year

Exchange difference arising on translation 
of foreign operations — — — — (2,892) — (2,892) — (2,892)

Reclassification adjustment for a foreign 
operation deregistration of — — — — 1,388 — 1,388 — 1,388

Reclassification adjustment for a foreign 
operation disposed of — — — — 37 — 37 — 37         

Total comprehensive expense for the year — — — — (1,467) (19,474) (20,941) (3) (20,944)         

Issue of new shares under general mandate 188 3,112 — — — — 3,300 — 3,300
Issue of new shares under rights issue 2,493 17,457 — — — — 19,950 — 19,950
Share issuing expenses — (2,140) — — — — (2,140) — (2,140)
Transfer to accumulated losses upon 

deregistration of a subsidiary — — 7,291 (2,676) — (4,615) — — —         

As at 31 March 2020 and  
as at 1 April 2020 7,481 93,897 1,465 2,670 909 (42,972) 63,450 68 63,518

Loss for the year — — — — — (34,581) (34,581) (5) (34,586)
Other comprehensive expense for the year

Exchange difference arising on translation 
of foreign operations — — — — 2,125 — 2,125 — 2,125         

Total comprehensive expense for the year — — — — 2,125 (34,581) (32,456) (5) (32,461)         

As at 31 March 2021 7,481 93,897 1,465 2,670 3,034 (77,553) 30,994 63 31,057         

Notes:	

(a)	 According to the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Company Law, companies in the PRC are required to transfer 10% 
of their respective after-tax profits, calculated in accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations 
applicable to entities established in the PRC, to the statutory reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered 
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised, upon approval of the relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses or to increase 
registered capital of these companies, provided that such fund is maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered capital. The 
statutory reserve is not distributable as cash dividends and must be made before distribution of dividend to equity owners.

(b)	 Exchange reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations 
from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange 
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (34,417) (18,344)

Adjustments for:
Bank interest income (184) (134)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (49) (645)
Finance costs 2,003 4,445
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,234 1,554
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 242 181
Amortisation of intangible assets 611 1,571
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (18) (3,277)
Loss arising on change in fair value of financial asset at fair value 

through profit or loss — 3,097
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary — 1,388
Impairment loss on intangible assets 50 —
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 2,566 —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 328 —
Write down of inventories 3,099 —
Overprovision of expenses in prior years (4,596) —
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal 4,370 4,524
Loan interest income — (67)  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (24,761) (5,707)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,442) 12,406
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 57,535 (6,415)
Decrease in trade and other payables (19,406) (1,704)  

Cash generated from/(used in) operation 11,926 (1,420)
Tax refunded/(paid) 873 (3,837)  

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 12,799 (5,257)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,742) (607)
Proceed from disposal of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss — 9,500
Proceed from disposal of property, plant and equipment 50 3,648
Investment deposit paid (5,400) —
Net cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiary (399) (2,902)
Interest received 184 134  

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (7,307) 9,773  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (3,228) (3,922)
Proceeds from borrowings 139,859 233,029
Repayment of borrowings (177,542) (233,993)
Repayment of lease liabilities (214) (177)
Advance from a related company 971 766
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits (73) 43
Proceed from issue of new shares under general mandate — 3,300
Proceed from issue of new shares under rights issue — 19,950
Share issuing expenses — (2,140)  

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (40,227) 16,856  

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (34,735) 21,372

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF  
THE REPORTING PERIOD 46,811 24,619

EFFECT ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES CHANGES (261) 820  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF  
THE REPORTING PERIOD,  
REPRESENTED BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 11,815 46,811  



51

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual Report 2020/21  On Real International Holdings Limited

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

On Real International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted 
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) 
of Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in 
the corporate information of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are engaged 
in designing, trading and manufacturing of two-way radios, baby monitors, other communication devices and 
servicing business of the above products.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The functional currency 
of the Company is Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$ as the 
directors consider that HK$ is appropriate presentation currency for the users of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to standards (collectively 
referred to as the “amendments to HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(the “HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning from 1 April 2020. A summary of the 
amendments to HKFRSs application by the Group is set out as follows:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39  

and HKFRS 7
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and 
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance 
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 
statements.
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2.	� APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions4

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,  
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 25

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–20202

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
5	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2021.

The directors anticipate that the application of new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments (key-management insurance) that are measured at fair values at the end of the reporting 
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are 
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are 
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs 
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial 
recognition the results of the valuation technique equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to owners of the Company and to non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and to 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in a subsidiary is presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the subsidiary upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value 
of the consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable 
to owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that 
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 
HKFRSs).
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods and 
services, or for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulate impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 
working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the property, plant and equipment 
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period 
in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in 
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the property, plant and 
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

•	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

•	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

•	 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

•	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the intangible asset; and

•	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from 
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated 
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it 
is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any). Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a 
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised 
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the reversal occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised 
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of 
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in 
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading 
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business 
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the amortised 
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)	 Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently 
at amortised cost and receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, 
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset 
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that 
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following 
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii)	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated 
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including trade and other receivables (excluded prepayment and value-added tax receivables), loan receivable, 
pledged bank deposits and bank balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL 
is updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result 
from default events that are possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessment are done 
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well 
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant financing component. The ECL 
on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision 
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of 
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default 
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of 
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit 
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; or

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 
Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii)	 Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider;

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)	 Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial assets is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is 
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does 
not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject 
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment 
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss 
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects 
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring 
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument 
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

•	 Nature of financial instruments;

•	 Past-due status;

•	 Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

•	 External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to 
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial 
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial 
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their 
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised 
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.



61Annual Report 2020/21  On Real International Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables (excluded provision and contract liabilities), borrowings, 
amount due to a related company and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand 
and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash as defined above.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that 
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated 
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the asset belongs.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such 
indication exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and consistent basis of 
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate 
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the 
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate 
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the 
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) 
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the 
group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of 
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would 
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of 
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods 
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series 
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

•	 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

•	 the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has 
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received a 
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a customer pays the consideration 
before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment 
is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group 
performs under the contract.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its 
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange 
for those goods to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good before that good is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good by another 
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good provided by another party before that good is 
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or 
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods to be provided by 
the other party.

Revenue from sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has been transferred, being 
when the goods have been delivered to the customers. The normal credit term is up to 90 days upon delivery.

Revenue from servicing income

The Group provides various services to the customers mainly comprised of assembly services and testing services. 
Servicing income is recognised at a point in time when such service is completed. The normal credit term is up to 
90 days upon service rendered.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations on or after the date of initial 
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the 
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the 
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or 
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption 
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised 
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

•	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring 
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease 
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value 
of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses 
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.
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Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as 
the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit 
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those 
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a 
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the 
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions subject to a cap of monthly 
relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group’s contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred are vested in 
accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the 
employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the contributions payable by the 
Group.

The employees employed by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement 
benefit schemes operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific 
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to the retirement benefits schemes operated by the government of the PRC is to make the specified 
contributions under the schemes.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees 
up to the end of the reporting period. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost, 
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or 
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same 
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the 
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and 
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature 
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide 
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material 
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable 
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. When 
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a 
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the 
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation), all of 
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company 
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same Group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a Group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii)	 both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group;

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services 
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Group and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors has made in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in sales of two-way radios, baby monitors and other products. The Group concluded that 
the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the specified good before it is transferred to 
the customer after taking into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the 
promise to provide the goods. The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, 
the Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be 
entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised revenue relating to sales of two-way radios, baby 
monitors and other products amounted to approximately HK$242,886,000 (2020: HK$334,184,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated 
depreciation or amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. In determining whether an asset is 
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event 
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can 
be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows 
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be 
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and 
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the 
net present value used in the impairment test.
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4.	� CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and loan receivable

Trade and other receivables and loan receivable with significant balances and credit-impaired are assessed for 
ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables which 
are individually insignificant. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into 
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or 
effort. At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the 
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade 
and other receivables and loan receivable are disclosed in note 20 and note 21 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining 
provision for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in 
which such determination is made.

Estimated allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis of inventories at the end of each reporting period and 
makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items identified that are no longer suitable for sale or use. The 
Group makes allowance for inventories based on the assessment of the net realisable value. The management 
estimates the net realisable value for inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices, the costs necessary to 
make the sale and current market conditions.
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5.	 REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue from sales of two-way radios, sales of baby monitors, servicing business and sales 
of other products, net of sales related tax where applicable. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Revenue comprises:
Two-way radios 187,442 244,976
Baby monitors 3,327 3,876
Servicing business 7,713 402
Other products 52,117 85,332  

Revenue from contracts with customers 250,599 334,586  

All of the Group’s revenue are recognised at a point in time.

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contract for two-way 
radios, baby monitors and other products and servicing contract for the above products such that the Group does 
not disclose information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance 
obligations under the contract for sales of two-way radios, baby monitors and other products and servicing 
contract for the above products that had an original expected duration of one year or less.

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors and senior management of the Company, being the chief operating 
decision maker (the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance 
focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided. Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting periods to the CODM who is responsible to allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments. Information relating to segment assets and liability is not 
disclosed as such information is not regularly reported to the CODM.

The Group is principally engaged in the trading and manufacturing of two-way radios, baby monitors, other 
communicating devices and servicing business of the above products.

The CODM have determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by them that are used to 
make strategic decisions.

Management considers the business from a product perspective whereby management assesses the performance 
of two-way radios, baby monitors, servicing business and other products based on gross profit arising in the 
course of the ordinary activities of a recurring nature.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment assets 
and segment liabilities is presented as the CODM does not regularly review such information for the purposes of 
resources allocation and performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are 
presented.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Two-way 
radios

Baby 
monitors

Servicing 
business

Other 
products Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue from contracts with 
customers 187,442 3,327 7,713 52,117 250,599     

Segment profit/(loss) 3,017 (11) 146 2,661 5,813    

Unallocated operating income and 
other gains and losses 3,212

Impairment losses under expected 
credit loss model, net of reversal (4,370)

Selling and distribution expenses (3,896)
Administrative expenses (33,173)
Finance costs (2,003) 

Loss before tax 34,417 

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Two-way 
radios

Baby 
monitors

Servicing 
business

Other 
products Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue from contracts with 
customers 244,976 3,876 402 85,332 334,586     

Segment profit/(loss) 20,828 (471) (21) 10,530 30,866    

Unallocated operating income and 
other gains and losses 4,097

Impairment losses under expected 
credit loss model, net of reversal (4,524)

Selling and distribution expenses (5,432)
Administrative expenses (38,906)
Finance costs (4,445) 

Loss before tax (18,344) 
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6.	� SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a)	� Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 3. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned/(loss suffered) from each segment 
without allocation of selling and distribution expenses, administrative expenses, impairment losses under 
expected credit loss models, net of reversal, other income, other gains and losses and finance costs. This is 
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

(b)	 Geographic segment

All analysis of the Group’s revenue presented by geographical location is detailed below:

Revenue from external customers
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000   

The United States of America 72,846 153,459
Germany 46,172 71,586
Europe (Note (i)) 9,996 15,924
Asia (Note (ii)) 111,431 52,487
The Netherlands 3,540 11,370
The United Kingdom (“UK”) 4,962 7,921
Others (Note (iii)) 1,652 21,839  

250,599 334,586  

Notes:

(i)	 Europe includes but is not limited to France, Italy and Belgium but excludes the UK, Germany and the Netherlands.

(ii)	 Asia includes but is not limited to the PRC and Hong Kong.

(iii)	 Others include but is not limited to Brazil, Canada and Russia. Revenue is allocated based on the shipping 

destination.

Since over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets were located in the PRC, no geographical location of non-
current assets is presented.



76 On Real International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020/21

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group 
are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Customer A1 114,565 195,809
Customer B2 (Note) N/A 38,361
Customer C2 26,271 34,649
Customer D1 (Note) 40,950 N/A
Customer E1 (Note) 26,164 N/A  

1	 Revenue from two-way radios segment.
2	 Revenue from other products segment.

Except disclosed above, no other customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for both years.

Note:

Revenue derived from customer did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of the Group.

7.	 OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Bank interest income 184 134
Loan interest income — 67
Government grants 429 —
Management service income 720 —
Overprovision of expense in prior years 4,596 —
Rental income — 167
Repair and maintenance income 161 327
Sales of scrap materials 503 851
Sundry income 1,577 2,744  

8,170 4,290  

During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of Covid-19 related subsidies, of will all related to 
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government.
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8.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Exchange loss, net (2,081) (1,018)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 18 3,277
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35) 49 645
Impairment loss on intangible assets (50) —
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (2,566) —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (328) —
Loss arising on change in fair value of financial asset at fair value 

through profit or loss — (3,097)  

(4,958) (193)
  

9.	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Impairment loss recognised on:
— trade receivables (Note 20) 3,815 3,302
— other receivables (Note 20) 555 181
— loan receivable (Note 21) — 1,041  

4,370 4,524
  

10.	 FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on:
— borrowings 1,986 4,431
— lease liabilities 17 14  

2,003 4,445
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11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) 169 1,133

  

(i)	 On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the 
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was 
gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying 
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not 
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant 
to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit 
for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for both years as the Group’s did not have any assessable profits 
arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

(ii)	 Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC 
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before tax (34,417) (18,344)  

Tax at domestic income tax rate (6,575) (4,323)
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purposes 2,692 3,975
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (54) (163)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 44 —
Tax effect of estimated tax loss not recognised 4,062 1,644  

Income tax expense for the year 169 1,133
  

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has unused estimated tax losses of approximately HK$29,880,000 (2020: 
HK$26,287,000). No deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of unrecognised due to the unpredictability 
of future profit streams. Except for unrecognised tax losses of the Group of approximately HK$5,323,000 for the 
year ended 31 March 2021 which will be expired in 2026, other unrecognised tax losses will be carried forward 
indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC 
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries 
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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12.	 LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (Note 14) 1,356 1,829
Salaries and allowances 13,801 13,522
Retirement benefit schemes contributions (excluding directors) 1,233 3,209  

Total staff costs 16,390 18,560  

Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services 477 629

Amortisation of intangible assets (included in cost of sales) 611 1,571
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,234 1,554
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 242 181
Cost of inventories sold recognised as an expense 200,555 253,305
Research and development costs recognised as an expense 4,385 10,466
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary — 1,388
Expenses relating to short-term leases and other leases with lease 

terms end within 12 months of the date of initial application of 
HKFRS 16 2,321 3,053

Write-down of inventories 3,099 —  
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13.	 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 
data:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  

(loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company) (34,581) (19,474)
  

2021 2020
’000 ’000

   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  

basic and diluted loss per share 598,500 410,225
  

The diluted loss per share for both years were the same as basic loss per share as there were no potential 
outstanding shares.
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14.	 DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2020: 12) directors and the chief executive were as 
follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances and 
benefits in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Executive directors:
Mr. Chan Lung Ming — 240 — 12 252
Ms. Sin Pui Ying — 240 — 12 252
Mr. Yeung Shing Wai — 240 — 12 252

Non-executive director:
Mr. Tao Hong Ming 240 — — — 240

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Shiu Man 120 — — — 120
Mr. Wong Ching Wan 120 — — — 120
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu 120 — — — 120     

600 720 — 36 1,356
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14.	 DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances and 
benefits in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Executive directors:
Mr. Chan Lung Ming  

(appointed on 27 November 2019) — 83 — 4 87
Mr. Tam Wing Ki  

(resigned on 25 October 2019) — 555 — 10 565
Ms. Sin Pui Ying 

(re-designated from non-executive director  
on 1 November 2019) — 100 — 5 105

Mr. Kwok Ming Fai  
(resigned on 20 September  2019) — 169 — 8 177

Mr. Fu Yan Ming 
(resigned on 20 September  2019) — 169 — 8 177

Mr. Yeung Shing Wai  
(appointed on 21 September 2019) — 126 — 6 132

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Tao Hong Ming 

(appointed on 25 October 2019) 105 — — — 105
Ms. Sin Pui Ying 

(appointed on 21 September 2019 and 
re-designated to executive director on  
1 November 2019) 13 — — — 13

Mr. Chan Chung Yin Victor  
(resigned on 31 March 2020) 120 — — — 120

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Cheng Chai Fu 

(appointed on 25 October 2019) 52 — — — 52
Mr. Chan Shiu Man 120 — — — 120
Mr. Wong Ching Wan 120 — — — 120
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex  

(resigned on 20 September 2019) 56 — — — 56     

586 1,202 — 41 1,829
     

Mr. Tam Wing Ki is also the chief executive of the Company up to 25 October 2019 and his emoluments 
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or chief executive as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors or chief executive waived or 
agreed to waive any emoluments in both years.

Except for disclosed in note 34, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s 
business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which a director had 
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting period or at any time 
during the year.



83Annual Report 2020/21  On Real International Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.	 DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, one (2020: three) was director for the year 
ended 31 March 2021. The emoluments of the director is included in the disclosures in note 14(a) above. 
The emoluments of the remaining four (2020: three) individuals, who are not directors of the Group were as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries and other allowances 4,641 2,880
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 59 67  

4,700 2,947  

The aggregated emoluments of each of the remaining highest paid individuals fell within the following band:

Number of individuals
2021 2020   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 —  

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the 
five highest paid individuals as inducements to join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss 
of office. None of the five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in both years.

15.	 DIVIDENDS

No final dividend was paid or proposed during the year, nor any dividend has been proposed by the board of 
directors subsequent to the end of the reporting period (2020: nil).
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16.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
improvement

Furniture and 
fixtures

Office 
equipment

Plant and 
machinery

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

COST
As at 1 April 2019 3,113 29 3,014 47,707 2,318 56,181
Additions — — — 607 — 607
Disposal and written off (2,438) (9) (2,056) (35,595) (829) (40,927)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35) (263) (9) (747) (123) (217) (1,359)
Exchange realignment (25) (1) (8) (1,069) (40) (1,143)      

As at 31 March 2020 and  
as at 1 April 2020 387 10 203 11,527 1,232 13,359

Additions — — — 1,742 — 1,742
Disposal and written off — — — (98) — (98)
Exchange realignment 31 1 10 945 39 1,026      

As at 31 March 2021 418 11 213 14,116 1,271 16,029
      

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 April 2019 2,680 29 2,764 45,317 1,808 52,598
Charged for the year 83 — 55 1,223 193 1,554
Eliminated on disposal and  

written off (2,209) (9) (1,950) (35,559) (829) (40,556)
Eliminated upon disposal of  

a subsidiary (Note 35) (253) (9) (720) (123) (101) (1,206)
Exchange realignment (18) (1) (5) (965) (32) (1,021)      

As at 31 March 2020 and  
as at 1 April 2020 283 10 144 9,893 1,039 11,369

Charged for the year 69 — 29 994 142 1,234
Eliminated on disposal and  

written off — — — (66) — (66)
Impairment 40 — 32 2,438 56 2,566
Exchange realignment 26 1 8 857 34 926      

As at 31 March 2021 418 11 213 14,116 1,271 16,029      

CARRYING AMOUNTS
As at 31 March 2021 — — — — — —

      

As at 31 March 2020 104 — 59 1,634 193 1,990
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16.	� PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per 
annum:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of term of the lease or 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Plant and machinery 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 20%

17.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased properties
HK$’000  

At 31 March 2021
Carrying amount 313 

At 31 March 2020
Carrying amount 151 

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Depreciation charge 242 

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Depreciation charge 181 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Expense relating to short-term leases 2,321 3,053
Total cash outflow for lease (Remark) 2,552 3,244
Additions to right-of-use assets 735 —
Impairment 328 —  

Remark:	 Amount included payments of principal and interest portion of lease liabilities and short-term leases.

The Group leases office for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term 2 years. Lease terms are 
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the 
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract 
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 
purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 26 and 31.
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18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Product 
development 

costs
HK$’000  

COST
As at 1 April 2019 16,322
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) (3,930)
Written-off upon deregistration of a subsidiary (1,356)
Exchange realignment (85) 

As at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2020 10,951
Exchange realignment 163 

As at 31 March 2021 11,114 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
As at 1 April 2019 12,307
Provided for the year 1,571
Elimination upon disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) (2,171)
Written-off upon deregistration of a subsidiary (1,356)
Exchange realignment (27) 

As at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2020 10,324
Provided for the year 611
Impairment 50
Exchange realignment 129 

As at 31 March 2021 11,114 

CARRYING AMOUNT
As at 31 March 2021 — 

As at 31 March 2020 627 

Product development costs are internally generated.

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over three years.
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19.	 INVENTORIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Raw materials 13,558 13,318
Work in progress 9,337 8,865
Finished goods 1,503 2,197  

24,398 24,380  

20.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade receivables from contracts with customers 37,252 91,751
Less: Allowance for credit losses (9,698) (5,883)  

27,554 85,868  

Prepayment 755 3,755
Value-added tax receivables 13,578 17,304
Deposits 143 133
Other receivables 2,964 1,630
Less: Allowance for credit losses (916) (361)  

16,524 22,461  

Total trade and other receivables 44,078 108,329
Less: Non-current portion deposit and prepayment (136) (355)  

Current portion 43,942 107,974  

The Group generally allows a credit period of 30 days to 90 days to its trade customers. The Group does not hold 
any collateral over these balances.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company entered into assignment of debt agreement with the 
lender to factor trade receivable with the gross carrying amount of USD1,008,900 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$7,809,000) to lender with recourse associated with secured other borrowings. The trade receivable and the 
other borrowing has not settled during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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20.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date which approximates the respective revenue 
recognition dates were as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

1 to 30 days 11,361 49,845
31 to 60 days 3,626 11,888
61 to 90 days 5,476 3,158
91 to 180 days 6,973 487
Over 180 days 118 20,490  

27,554 85,868
  

As at 31 March 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) balance are 
debtors with aggregates carrying amounts of approximately HK$16,193,000 (2020: HK$42,642,000) which are 
past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances, HK$6,068,000 (2020: HK$16,565,000) 
(net of allowance for credit losses) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default because 
of no recent history of default and the directors are in opinion of these balances are still considered as collectible.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) that has been recognised under the 
simplified approach:

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

As at 1 April 2019 2,632 — 2,632
Impairment loss recognised 3,251 51 3,302
Amounts written-off as uncollectible — (51) (51)   

As at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2020 5,883 — 5,883
Impairment loss recognised — 6,352 6,352
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) (3,111) 3,111 —
Impairment loss reversed (2,537) — (2,537)   

As at 31 March 2021 235 9,463 9,698
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20.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of other receivables under general approach is as follow:

12m ECL
Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 1 April 2019 203 — 203
Impairment loss recognised — 300 300
Impairment loss reversed (119) — (119)
Written-off upon deregistration of a subsidiary (23) — (23)   

As at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2020 61 300 361
Impairment loss recognised 46 509 555
Transfer to Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (50) 50 —   

As at 31 March 2021 57 859 916   

Included in trade and other receivables (excluded prepayment and value-add tax receivables) are the following 
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of relevant group entities:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

USD 12,236 69,308
  

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) of HK$Nil 
(2020: HK$40,177,000) have been pledged as security for the borrowings. Details are shown in note 24.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31.
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21.	 LOAN RECEIVABLE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Unsecured fixed-rate loan receivable 3,000 3,000
Less: Allowance for credit losses (3,000) (3,000)  

— —  

The loan receivable had contractual maturity date with one year. The interest rate for the fixed-rate loan receivable 
was 10% per annum.

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of loan receivable under general approach is as follow:

12m ECL
Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 1 April 2019 1,959 — 1,959
Impairment loss recognised — 1,041 1,041
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (1,959) 1,959 —   

As at 31 March 2020, as at 1 April 2020 and 
as at 31 March 2021 — 3,000 3,000   

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no allowance for credit loss (2020: HK$1,041,000) was recognised. The 
directors classified the entire loan receivable as credit-impaired as a result of default payment of principal amount 
of loan receivable and loan interest receivables.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31.

22.	 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances represented short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. As at 31 March 2021, bank 
balances carried at interest at floating rates and placed with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. 
As at 31 March 2021, the pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate at 0.50% per annum (2020: 0.55% per 
annum) and mature within 92 days (2020: 93 days) from the placement dates.

Pledged bank deposits have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. The pledged bank 
deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash denominated in USD, 
Renminbi (“RMB”) and Euro (“EUR”) other than the functional currency of relevant group entities: are approximately 
HK$2,065,000 (2020: HK$15,857,000), HK$1,173,000 (2020: HK$1,100,000) and HK$9,000 (2020: HK$9,000) 
respectively.
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22.	� PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to 
the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by the government of the PRC. The Group’s pledged bank 
deposits and bank balances and cash denominated in RMB which located in Hong Kong are not subject to the 
foreign exchange control.

The Group performed impairment assessment on pledged bank deposits and bank balances and concluded that 
the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses 
is provided for both years.

23.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade payables 27,441 51,327  

Accrued expenses 5,196 6,697
Other payables 4,953 8,034
Contract liabilities — 260  

10,149 14,991  

37,590 66,318  

Contract liabilities represented advance payments of related sales of goods from customers pursuant to the 
respective sales contracts.

For the contract liabilities as at 31 March 2020, the entire balances were recognised as revenue during the year 
ended 31 March 2021.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on invoice dates at the end of the reporting 
period:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 30 days 4,387 15,414
31 to 60 days 393 13,562
61 to 90 days 21,171 8,133
More than 90 days 1,490 14,218  

27,441 51,327  

The credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.
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23.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s trade and other payables (excluded contract liabilities) that are denominated in currency other than the 
functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

RMB 97 97
USD 3,310 28,059  

24.	 BORROWINGS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Secured bank borrowings 9,960 43,724
Secured other borrowings 5,600 5,600
Unsecured other borrowings — 3,919  

15,560 53,243  

Carrying amounts repayable (based on scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements):

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 15,560 53,243  

(a)	 Secured bank borrowings are interest bearing at London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) over a spread or 
minus a spread as appropriate as at 31 March 2021 were secured by the Group’s pledged bank deposits 
and guarantee provided by the Company as appropriate (2020: were secured by the Group’s trade 
receivables, pledged bank deposit and guarantee provided by the Company as appropriate). Details are 
shown in note 32.

(b)	 On 16 July 2019, the Company entered into assignment of debt agreement with the lender to factor 
trade receivable with the gross carrying amount of approximately HK$7,809,000 to lender with recourse. 
Subsequent to entered into assignment of debt agreement, the secured other borrowings were interest-free 
and will be settled upon settlement of factored trade receivable with the amounts of HK$7,308,000 (net of 
allowance for credit losses).
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24.	 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(c)	 The unsecured other borrowings were interest bearing ranging from 4% to 12% per annum for the year 
ended 31 March 2020.

	 During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company entered into an extension agreement with the lender to 
extend 1 year unsecured other borrowings with the amounts of HK$3,919,000 from the respective date of 
the extension agreements. Except for the date of repayment, other terms are remain unchanged.

	 The unsecured other borrowings are fully settled during the year ended 31 March 2021.

(d)	 The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of the respective reporting period are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Variable-rate bank borrowings effective interest rate 3.17% to 3.23% 3.04% to 4.96%  

(e)	 The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the 
relevant group entities are set out below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Borrowings
— USD 9,960 43,724  

(f)	 The Group has the following undrawn borrowings facilities:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Variable-rate borrowings 77,540 35,752  
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25.	 AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

2021 2020
Name of company HK$’000 HK$’000    

Xinxing On Time Electronics Limited (Note) 2,281 1,188  

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Note:	 Mr. Tam Wing Ki, the ex-director and ex-chairman of the Company, has direct interest in the relevant party. Subsequent 

to the resignation of the director and chairman of the Company, Mr. Tam Wing Ki is still acting as director of certain 

subsidiaries and one of the key management personnel of the Group.

26.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 359 155
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 315 —  

674 155
Less:	 Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under  

current liabilities (359) (155)  

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months shown under  
non-current liabilities 315 —  

The incremented borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities range from 4.15% to 9.53% (2020: 5.64%).
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27.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Amount

2021 2020 2021 2020
’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Ordinary shares of HK$0.0125 each

Authorised:
At the beginning of the reporting period 3,120,000 6,240,000 39,000 7,800
Share consolidation (note b(i)) — (5,616,000) — —
Increase in authorised share  

capital (note b(ii)) — 2,496,000 — 31,200    

At the end of the reporting period 3,120,000 3,120,000 39,000 39,000    

Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning of the reporting period 598,500 3,840,000 7,481 4,800
Issue of new shares under general 

mandate (note a) — 150,000 — 188
Share consolidation (note b(i)) — (3,591,000) — —
Issue of new shares by way of rights 

issue (note c) — 199,500 — 2,493    

At the end of the reporting period 598,500 598,500 7,481 7,481    

Notes:

(a)	 On 30 August 2019, the Company allotted and issued 150,000,000 new ordinary shares at a subscription price of 
HK$0.022 per share under general mandate. The net proceeds of HK$3,275,000 from issue of new shares will be used for 
general working capital of the Group.

(b)	 At extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 4 February 2020, an ordinary resolution was passed to approve 
the following changes to the capital of the Company (the “Capital Reorganisation”):

(i)	 Share consolidation: every ten existing issued and unissued shares of par value of HK$0.00125 each be 
consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.0125 each in the share capital of the Company (the 
“Consolidated Share”);

(ii)	 Increase in authorised share capital: increase the authorised share capital of the Company from HK$7,800,000 to 
HK$39,000,000 by the creation of an additional of 2,496,000,000 shares, each ranking pari passu with the shares 
then in issue in all respects.

The Capital Reorganisation was effected on 6 February 2020.

(c)	 On 11 March 2020, the Company allotted and issued 199,500,000 new ordinary shares at a subscription price of HK$0.1 
per share by way of rights shares to the qualifying shareholders of the Company on the basis of one right share for every 
two Consolidated Shares held on 17 February 2020 (the “Rights Issue”). The net proceeds from the Rights Issue of 
HK$17,835,000 will be used for expansion of existing business and/or acquisition of and/or investment in business(es) 
which leverage on the competitive advantage of the Group should suitable opportunities arise and for general working 
capital of the Group.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 rank pari passu with the then 
existing shares in all respects.



96 On Real International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020/21

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28.	 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a 
defined contribution plan and the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds 
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant costs to the scheme, which contribution is 
matched by employees, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF 
Scheme vest immediately and there were no forfeited contributions of the MPF Scheme during both years.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes 
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a specific percentage of payroll 
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the 
retirement benefits schemes operated by the government of the PRC is made the specified contributions under the 
schemes. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The total expense recognised in consolidated profit or loss of approximately HK$1,269,000 (2020: HK$3,250,000) 
represents contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans during the 
year ended 31 March 2021.

29.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts which include borrowings and lease liabilities, net of bank 
balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure periodically. As part of the review, the directors consider the cost of 
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s 
capital structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure 
through issue of new shares or redemption of existing shares as well as issue of new debt or redemption of existing 
debts.

The Group is not subject to any external imposed capital requirements.

30.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 48,118 135,166

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 55,431 114,964  
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include investment deposit, trade and other receivables (excluded 
prepayment and value-added tax receivables), loan receivable, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, 
trade and other payables (excluded contract liabilities), borrowings and amount due to a related company. Details of 
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments 
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate 
these risks are set out below. The directors manage and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate measures 
are implemented on a timely and effective manner. There has been no material change to the Group’s exposure to 
financial risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence, exposures to exchange rate 
fluctuation arise. The Group’s assets are mainly HK$ denominated assets. In addition, the Group has certain assets 
denominated in RMB, USD and EUR. 

The HK$ is pegged to USD and thus foreign currency exposure is considerate as minimal and is not hedged.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB and EUR at the end of 
the reporting period as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

RMB 1,173 1,100 97 97
EUR 9 9 — —    

The transactions and monetary assets denominated in EUR is minimal, the Group considers there has no material 
foreign exchange risk exposure in respect of EUR. Therefore, EUR are excluded from the analysis below.

In this respect, the Group considers its exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily in the fluctuation of HK$ 
against RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The Group will monitor its foreign currency 
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in exchange rates of the relevant 
foreign currencies against the respective reporting entity’s functional currency. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when 
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 
5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax loss/a decrease 
in post-tax loss where the respective functional currencies of the reporting entity strengthen 5% against the 
relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% weakening of the respective functional currencies against the relevant foreign 
currencies, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss, and the balances below would be negative. 
The analysis is performed on the same basis for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

RMB (54) (49)  

Management considered the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as the exposure at 
the end of each reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits (Note 22), fixed-
rate borrowings (Note 24) and lease liabilities (Note 26). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk 
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 22) and variable-rate bank borrowings (Note 24). The Group cash 
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and LIBOR arising 
from the Group’s bank borrowings. The Group aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group manages 
its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements based on 
interest rate level and outlook. The management will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates 
and ensure they are within reasonable range.
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative 
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease in variable-rate bank balances 
and variable-rate borrowings are used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are 
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising 
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s 
post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would increase/decrease by approximately HK$54,000 (2020: 
decrease/increase in post-tax loss HK$183,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest 
rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, other receivables, deposits, loan receivable, 
pledged bank deposits and bank balances. As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, 
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising 
from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks 
associated with its financial assets.

The Group deposited pledged bank deposits and bank balances with approved and reputable banks. Bankruptcy 
or insolvency of the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect to pledged bank deposits and bank balances 
held to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and 
consider that the Group’s exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were minimal.

For other receivables and deposits, the directors make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of 
other receivables and based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The directors believe that there is no 
significant increase in credit risk of the Group’s outstanding balances of other receivables deposits since initial 
recognition and the Group provide impairment based on 12m ECL. Based on the assessment, impairment of other 
receivables (net of reversal) with the amounts of approximately HK$555,000 (2020: HK$181,000) was recognised 
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021.

For loan receivable, the directors make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of loan receivable 
based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

The Group considers loan receivable as doubtful if the repayment of principal and/or interest has been overdue 
for more than 3 months and principal. The Group considers the loan and loan interest receivable as loss if the 
repayments of principal and/or interest have been overdue for more than 6 months for loan and loan interest 
receivable; and in cases the collection of principal and/or interest in full is improbable. The directors considered that 
credit quality classification of gross loan receivable is loss (2020: performing).
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31.	� FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Based on the above assessment, impairment of loan receivable with the amount of approximately HK$ Nil (2020: 
HK$1,041,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 29% (2020: 42%) and 90% (2020: 72%) of the trade receivables was 
due from the Group’s largest customer and five largest customers respectively.

The Group’s policy to manage credit risk is to deal only with credit worthy counterparties. In order to minimise the 
credit risk, the management of the Group has formulated a credit policy and, delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is 
take.

Trade receivables are assessed based on provision matrix, except for trade receivables with gross carrying 
amounts of approximately HK$9,463,000 (2020: Nil), which are credit-impaired, that are assessed individually. 
The Group performed impairment assessment for the trade receivables equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated 
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss 
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished 
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are 
assessed collectively based on provision matrix except for those who are assessed individually or credit-impaired:

Expected loss
Gross carrying 

amounts Loss allowance
% HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 31 March 2021
Current (not past due) 0.83% 11,458 97
1 to 30 days past due 0.84% 3,656 30
31 to 60 days past due 0.84% 5,522 46
61 to 90 days past due 0.84% 1,032 9
91 to 180 days past due 0.86% 6,120 52
Over 180 days past due 100% 1 1  

27,789 235  

Expected loss
Gross carrying 

amounts Loss allowance
% HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 31 March 2020
Current (not past due) 1.13 43,721 495
1 to 30 days past due 1.19 22,058 263
31 to 60 days past due 1.57 1,651 26
61 to 90 days past due 1.96 2,710 53
91 to 180 days past due 2.56 391 10
Over 180 days past due 23.73 21,220 5,036  

91,751 5,883  
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31.	� FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the 
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping 
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised impairment amounts of approximately 
HK$3,815,000, HK$555,000 and HK$ Nil (2020: HK$3,302,000, HK$181,000 and HK$1,041,000) for trade 
receivables. other receivables and loan receivable respectively.

Liquidity risk

In management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash 
flows. Management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The 
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the Group can be required to pay.
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31.	� FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 
undiscounted cashflows on interest are estimated based on interest rates at the end of the reporting period, and 
therefore subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined 
at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2021

Within one year 
or on demand

More than one 
year but less 

than two years

More than two 
years but less 

than five years
More than 
five years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 37,535 — — — 37,535 37,535
Borrowings 15,587 — — — 15,587 15,560
Amount due to a related company 2,281 — — — 2,281 2,281
Lease liabilities 393 301 — — 694 674      

55,796 301 — — 56,097 56,050      

As at 31 March 2020

Within one year 
or on demand

More than one 
year but less 

than two years

More than two 
years but less 
than five years

More than 
five years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 60,378 — — — 60,378 60,378
Borrowings 53,654 — — — 53,654 53,243
Amount due to a related company 1,188 — — — 1,188 1,188
Lease liabilities 159 — — — 159 155      

115,379 — — — 115,379 114,964      

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at other than fair value

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements measured at amortised cost approximate to their fair values.
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32.	 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by:

(i)	 certain of the Group’s trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) with carrying amounts of 
approximately HK$Nil (2020: HK$32,869,000);

(ii)	 pledged bank deposits with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,158,000 (2020: HK$1,085,000); and

(iii)	 a corporate guarantee provided by the Company with an aggregate amount of approximately HK$65,000,000 
(2020: HK$65,000,000).

33.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Contracted but not provided for:
— Property, plant and equipment — 9  
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34.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following significant transactions with related parties during the year.

(a)	 Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries and allowances 4,381 4,326
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 77 138  

4,458 4,464  

The remuneration of the directors and key management personnel is determined by the board of directors 
regarding to the performance of individuals and market trends.

(b)	 In addition to the balances detailed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 
following material transactions with related parties during the year:

2021 2020
Name of company Nature of transactions Notes HK$’000 HK$’000     

Xinxing On Time  
Electronics Limited

Rental and utilities expenses (i) 1,856 1,890

Mr. Tam Wing Ki Disposal of financial asset at fair 
value through profit or loss (ii) — 9,500  

Notes:

(i)	 Mr. Tam Wing Ki, the ex-director and ex-chairman of the Company, has direct interest in the relevant party. 

Subsequent to the resignation of the director and chairman of the Company, Mr. Tam Wing Ki is still acting as 

director of certain subsidiaries and as key management personnel of the Group. Rental and utilities expenses 

constitute as continuing connected transaction under Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules, but are exempted from the 

reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirement.

(ii)	 The disposal constitute as connected transaction under Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.
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35.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 19 August 2020, the Group completed to dispose the entire equity interest in Ortech Company Limited which 
principally engaged in trading of baby monitors at total consideration of HK$50,000. The net liabilities of Ortech 
Company Limited, at the date of disposal were as follow:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

HK$’000  

Trade and other receivables 5,066
Bank balances and cash 449
Trade and other payables (798)
Amounts due to the Group companies (4,716) 

Net assets disposed of 1 

Gain on disposal of Ortech Company Limited:

HK$’000  

Cash consideration received 50
Net assets disposed of (1) 

Gain on disposal of Ortech Company Limited 49 

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of Ortech Company Limited:

HK$’000  

Cash consideration received 50
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (449) 

Net cash outflow (399) 
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35.	� DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

On 1 December 2019, the Group completed to dispose the entire equity interest in Shenzhen On Real Innovate 
Electronics Technology Limited* (“ORIE”) which principally engaged in technology development at total consideration 
of RMB100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$111,000). The net liabilities of ORIE, at the date of disposal were 
as follow:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

HK$’000  

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 153
Intangible assets (Note 18) 1,759
Inventories 4,295
Trade and other receivables 6,694
Bank balances and cash 3,013
Trade and other payables (7,204)
Amounts due to the Group companies (9,281) 

Net liabilities disposed of (571) 

Gain on disposal of ORIE:

HK$’000  

Cash consideration received 111
Net liabilities disposed of 571
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal (37) 

Gain on disposal of ORIE 645 

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of ORIE:

HK$’000  

Cash consideration received 111
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (3,013) 

Net cash outflow (2,902) 

*  For identification purpose only
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36.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary 22,204 22,126  

Current assets
Trade receivables — 8,856
Prepayment and other receivables 201 1,215
Loan receivable — —
Amounts due from subsidiaries 8,456 3,645
Bank balances and cash 3,543 16,994  

12,200 30,710  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 4,397 5,748
Amounts due to subsidiaries 75 96
Other borrowings 5,600 9,519  

10,072 15,363  

Net current assets 2,128 15,347  

Net assets 24,332 37,473  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 7,481 7,481
Reserves (Note) 16,851 29,992  

Total equity 24,332 37,473  

Signed on its behalf by:

  
Ms. Sin Pui Ying Mr. Yeung Shing Wai

Director Director
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36.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

Reserves of the Company

Share 

premium

Accumulated 

losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 1 April 2019 75,468 (60,256) 15,212

Loss for the year and total comprehensive  

expense for the year — (3,649) (3,649)

Issue of new shares under general mandate 3,112 — 3,112

Issue of new shares under rights issue 17,457 — 17,457

Share issuing expenses (2,140) — (2,140)   

As at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2020 93,897 (63,905) 29,992

Loss for the year and total comprehensive  

expense for the year — (13,141) (13,141)   

As at 31 March 2021 93,897 (77,046) 16,851   
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37.	 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has the following subsidiaries:

Name of Company

Place/country of incorporation 

or establishment/operation

Issued and fully paid share 

capital/registered capital

Percentage of equity interest 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

2021 2020 2021 2020
        

On Real (BVI) Limited BVI/BVI Ordinary shares USD2 100% 100% — — Investment holding

On Real Limited Hong Kong/PRC Ordinary shares

HK$2,000,000

— — 100% 100% Trading of two-way radios 

and servicing business

Onward Technology  

Development Limited

Hong Kong/PRC Ordinary shares

HK$10,000

— — 100% 100% Trading of plastic covers to 

On Real Limited and its 

subsidiaries

Ortech Company Limited Hong Kong/PRC Ordinary shares

HK$10,000

— — — 100% Trading of baby monitors

Xinxing Great Success  

Plastic Limited* (Note)

PRC/PRC Paid up capital

HK$8,000,000

— — 100% 100% Design and manufacture of 

two-way radios and baby 

monitors

On Real I.O.T Group Limited Hong Kong/PRC Ordinary shares

HK$100

— — 51% 51% Technology development

Real Shine Investment 

Development Limited

BVI/BVI Ordinary shares

USD10,000

100% — — — Investment holding

Empire Profit Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong Ordinary shares

HK$100

— — 100% — Investment holding

Shenzhen Great  

Success Electronics 

Technology Limited*

PRC/PRC Paid up capital

RMB1,000,000

— — 100% — Design and trading of two-

way radios and baby 

monitors

All companies now comprising the Group, except for Xinxing Great Success Plastic Limited* and Shenzhen Great 
Success Electronics Technology Limited* which have adopted 31 December as the financial year end date, have 
adopted 31 March as the financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at the end of both years or any time during both 
years.

All of the subsidiaries are private companies with limited liabilities.

The directors consider that the Group’s non-controlling interests were insignificant to the Group and thus are not 
separately presented in these consolidated financial statements for both years. In addition, no separate financial 
information of this non-wholly owned subsidiary is required to be presented.

Note:	 Wholly foreign owned enterprise.

*  For identification purpose only
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38.	 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as financing activities.

Interest 
payables Borrowings

Amount 
due to a 
related 

company
Lease 

liabilities Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

As at 31 March 2019 702 54,207 499 — 55,408
Application of HKFRS 16 — — — 332 332     

As at 1 April 2019 (restated) 702 54,207 499 332 55,740
Financing cash flows (3,922) (964) 766 (177) (4,297)
Non-cash changes:
Interest expense recognised (Note 10) 4,445 — — — 4,445
Exchange realignment — — (77) — (77)     

As at 31 March 2020 1,225 53,243 1,188 155 55,811

Financing cash flows (3,228) (37,683) 971 (214) (40,154)
Non-cash changes:
Addition — — — 735 735
Interest expense recognised (Note 10) 2,003 — — — 2,003
Exchange realignment — — 122 (2) 120     

As at 31 March 2021 — 15,560 2,281 674 18,515     
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39.	 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following was the Group’s financial assets as at 31 March 2021 that were transferred to lender by endorsing 
these receivables on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards 
relating to this receivable, it continues to recognise the full carrying amounts of trade receivables and has 
recognised the relevant borrowings (Note 24). These financial assets are carried at amortised cost, net of allowance 
for credit losses, in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Carrying amounts of transferred assets — trade receivables  
(net of allowance for credit losses) — 40,177

Carrying amounts of associated liabilities — borrowings (5,600) (37,307)  

Net position (5,600) 2,870  

40.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 20 January 2020, the Company received a third-party notice with legal case no. HCA1643/2019 between the 
Barton Eagle Limited (the “Plaintiff”), Lam Tak Hung (the “Defendant”) and the Company. The Plaintiff claimed 
against the Defendant approximately HK$8 million under a guarantee for debts own by the Company. The 
Defendant claims against the Company to be indemnified against the plaintiff’s claim and the cost of this action on 
the grounds that the Company are the principal debtor of the alleged debt. The management of the Company is 
seeking the legal opinion for the above case.

Up to the date of this report, the outcome of the proceedings is still uncertain. As the directors considered it is 
premature and not practical to draw a conclusion of the outcome of the claims and that the ultimate liability, if any, 
will not have a material adverse impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position, no provision 
was made as at 31 March 2021.

Apart from the contingent liabilities disclosed on the above, the Group has no other significant contingent liabilities.

41.	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has been no material subsequent events from 31 March 2021 up to the date of this report.

42.	 APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 
2021.
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The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the last five financial years are as follows:

RESULTS

Years ended 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue 250,599 334,586 323,506 297,131 327,637
(Loss)/profit before tax (34,417) (18,344) (8,327) 3,218 7,673
Income tax expense (169) (1,133) (1,386) (2,333) (3,390)     

(Loss)/profit for the year (34,586) (19,477) (9,713) 885 4,283     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (34,581) (19,474) (9,789) 890 4,283
Non-controlling interest (5) (3) 76 (5) —     

(34,586) (19,477) (9,713) 885 4,283     

ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

ASSETS
Non-current assets 5,849 3,123 20,513 27,687 27,069
Current assets 81,313 181,430 183,675 174,094 176,111     

Total assets 87,162 184,553 204,188 201,781 203,180     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Total equity 31,057 63,518 63,352 73,977 71,644

Non-current liabilities 315 — — 7,934 —
Current liabilities 55,790 121,035 140,836 119,870 131,536     

Total liabilities 56,105 121,035 140,836 127,804 131,536     

Total equity and liabilities 87,162 184,553 204,188 201,781 203,180     
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